Severe and Mild Depression

THE MANIFEST SYMPTOMATOLOGY OF DEPRESSION IN ADULTS

SILVANO ARIETI, M.D.

THE MANIFEST SYMPTOMATOLOGY OF DEPRESSION IN ADULTS

SILVANO ARIETI, M.D.

e-Book 2015 International Psychotherapy Institute

From *Severe and Mild Depression* by Silvano Arieti & Jules Bemporad

Copyright © 1978 Silvano Arieti & Jules Bemporad

All Rights Reserved

Created in the United States of America

www.freepsychotherapybooks.org ebooks@theipi.org

Table of Contents

Introductory Remarks and Classificatory Criteria

<u>Table 3-1</u>

Primary Depressions

Mild Depressions

Severe Depression

Classic Form Of Severe Depression

The Claiming Type Of Depression

Other Clinical Varieties Of Depression

Depressive Phase Of Manic-Depressive Psychosis

Involutional Melancholia

Senile Depression

Postpartum Depression

<u>Suicide</u>

Secondary Depression

Depression With Neurological Or Brain Disease

Depression With Endocrine And Other Chronic Diseases

Drug-Induced Depression

<u>Depression Occurring In The Course Of Schizophrenia</u>

Differential Diagnosis

REFERENCES

THE MANIFEST SYMPTOMATOLOGY OF DEPRESSION IN ADULTS

Silvano Arieti

Introductory Remarks and Classificatory Criteria

The manifest symptomatology of the various depressive syndromes requires careful examination and evaluation. Nevertheless, even more than in the study of other psychiatric conditions, an approach confined to the observation and assessment of the manifest symptomatology of depressions leaves the clinician with an awareness of the limitation of the method. The psychotherapist senses the profundity of the syndrome with which he deals, realizes that he cannot go far with a surface investigation, and feels the need for a psychodynamic approach. This in fact will be the procedure followed in this book.

The manifest symptomatology of depression impresses the clinician as being relatively uniform, characterized at least in the majority of cases by one prevailing feature—the depressive mood. It does not present a multifaceted picture, leading to different sorts of inquiries, like that of the schizophrenic

disorder. Contrary to the schizophrenic syndrome, it does not confront the therapist with an image so different from the usual one of the human being, and so distorted. However, it does have an especially powerful impact on the clinician who is struck by the intensity of the sorrow that he witnesses and to which he immediately responds with a sense of affinity, so close is that image of sorrow to a common part of the human condition. Moreover the clinical picture has a few important secondary traits which are often overlooked in the context of the mood of depression. Any description of the manifest symptomatology of the syndromes included under the category of depression implies some agreement on the classification of these syndromes. But such agreement has never been reached, since some aspects of these conditions are far from being clarified and several others are controversial. Some features which at our stage of knowledge seem to be fundamental marks of distinction may be proved later to be not so basic.

Any classification and description which are based on partial knowledge tend to repeat traditional ways, established by previous generations of professionals working in the field.

At the present level of our understanding the following three questions seem of pivotal importance in classificatory attempts.

Is the depression primary or secondary? A depression is called primary

when it constitutes an important and/or essential component of a syndrome; for instance, in what is generally called "psychotic depression" or "severe depression."

In manic-depressive psychosis the depression is also primary. In fact, although the syndrome may have manic attacks, the depression is an important and probably necessary component. We say probably and not absolutely necessary because there are rare cases of the illness characterized only by manic attacks. In these cases, however, the presumptive evidence is that the depressive attacks occur at a subclinical or subliminal level.

A depression which occurs in the course of epilepsy or an endocrine syndrome is not considered primary because the available evidence suggests that it would not have occurred in the absence of the original syndrome.

Is the depression severe or mild? At times this question is formulated with different terminology: Is the depression endogenous or reactive; or, is the depression psychotic or neurotic? These terminologies reflect the theoretical premises of the persons who use them. An endogenous depression is based exclusively on organic, presumably hereditary factors which manifest themselves in biochemical alterations of the organism. A reactive depression would be one which is precipitated by an event perceived by the patient as harmful or unpleasant.

This dichotomy is not substantiated by any sure evidence. Any depression must ultimately be mediated by a living organism, and therefore it requires neurophysiological mechanisms and biochemical changes. On the other hand, we are not justified in claiming that no precipitating events exist just because we have not been able to determine them. In all depressions there are both psychological and biological, nonpsychological components. Moreover the biological components may not necessarily be based on anatomical pathology, but may be functional. In other words, they consist only of changes in some functions of the organism, but not of anatomical structures.

The authors of this book believe that in most cases it is possible to recognize whether a depression is psychotic or neurotic. However, these two terms have come to be used in incorrect ways by many authors and clinicians. They are wrongly used when a depression is called psychotic only if some symptoms are present which occur also in schizophrenia and are acknowledged by everybody as psychotic; for instance, hallucinations, delusions, or ideas of reference. These symptoms are not specific for any type of depression or for manic-depressive psychosis. The issue here hinges on the definition of psychosis.

As I wrote elsewhere (1973, 1974), psychosis is a term used by many to designate a severe or major psychiatric disorder. In theory and clinical

practice the concept is more difficult to define because severity is not an inflexible characteristic. A certain number of cases diagnosed as psychosis may in fact be less serious from the point of view of the sufferer or of society than some cases included in other psychiatric categories. The term *psychosis* is at times indistinctly equated with insanity. The latter term, when used legally or in popular language, suggests a person who is so incompetent that he may require special control or supervision. However, psychosis indicates not only actual or potential severity, it also connotes that an unrealistic way of appreciating the self and the world is accepted and tends to be accepted by the sufferer as a normal way of living. This definition of psychosis lends itself to justified criticism because it implies that we know what is reality and what is unreality. Many philosophers would promptly indicate to us how naive we are in assuming that we have such knowledge.

In practical terms we can say that no matter what transformation the psychotic patient has undergone, that transformation becomes his way of relating to himself and to others and of interpreting the world. The organic psychotic patient has a cognitive defect but believes that the way he deals with the world is not defective. The schizophrenic undergoes predominantly a symbolic transformation, but he believes there is nothing wrong in living in accordance with that symbolic transformation.

The patient who is depressed to a psychotic degree has undergone

predominantly a severe emotional transformation, but he believes that his way of feeling is appropriate to the circumstances in which he lives. Thus he does not fight his disorder, as the psychoneurotic does, but lives within it. In many cases he even seems to nourish it. In this respect he resembles persons who are affected by character neuroses and do not even know the pathological nature of their difficulties. The distortions of the character neuroses, however, are susceptible to at least partial adaptation to the demands of society, whereas in psychoses such adaptation is impossible or very difficult.

The severely depressed person may neglect feeding himself to the point of starvation; he may be so inactive as to be unable to take care of even the most elementary needs; he may think he is justified in believing that there is nothing good in life and death is preferable. He also considers any attempt to improve his life to be worthless, and in some cases he feels guilty in the absence of reasons which would make other people feel guilty. He may actually attempt suicide if he has an opportunity to implement such a plan. He considers his mood consonant with what appears to him the reality of his situation. Thus he seems to have characteristics which would make appropriate the designation "psychotic." Only in a minority of cases do delusions, especially of guilt, and hallucinations occur.

On the other hand, there are some severely depressed patients who do

not accept their depression and utterly reject it. Technically, they should therefore not be considered psychotic. They are in this respect similar to the marginal schizophrenic who has at least partial insight into the pathological nature of his condition. However, both this type of severely depressed patient and schizophrenic patient can easily lose insight. If in the term psychosis we include the potential loss of insight, then they too can be called psychotic. If we do so, however, we step on unsafe ground. To obviate these difficulties, I suggest that we call a depression either mild or severe with the understanding that severe depression may be accepted by the patient as a way of living and therefore be syntonic, or unaccepted and therefore dystonic.

Our difficulties are not over. Many clinicians could correctly point out that many cases of depression cannot clearly be differentiated into mild or severe; rather, they reach an intermediate stage of intensity. Inasmuch as most cases could in their psychodynamic structure and clinical course resemble either the mild or the severe type of depression, I am inclined to classify these intermediate stages as moderate-to-mild depression and moderate-to-severe depression.

Are the age of the patient or particular contingencies in his life important to justify particular classifications? I mean, for instance, postpartum depression, adolescent depression, involutional depression, or senile depression, etc. They are justified only to the extent that they frequently have

some specific clinical or psychodynamic features. It is important for the therapist to familiarize himself with them. However, the basic mechanisms are presumably the same as in other types of either mild or severe depression.

Table 3-1 demonstrates the classification adopted in this book. It also includes varieties which, although not necessary to distinguish for therapeutic reasons or for the understanding of their psychodynamics, have been recognized by several authors on account of their specific characteristics. They are reported here for the sake of clarification and to facilitate a common ground of understanding.

Before proceeding to a description of the clinical syndromes in Table 3-1, we shall briefly consider other classifications or attempts to classify depression.

Table 3-1

Classification of Depressions

Primary Depressions

Mild (dystonic)

- a. Depressive Character or Personality
- b. Reactive Depression
- c. Depression with Anxiety

- d. Depression with Obsessive-Compulsive Symptoms
- e. Masked Depression
- f. Depersonalized Depression

Severe (syntonic)

- a. Pure Depression
- b. Depression in Manic-Depressive Psychosis
- c. Depression in Schizo-Affective Psychosis

Varieties

- 1. Self-blaming
- 2. Claiming
- 3. Mixed
- 4. Simple
- 5. Acute
- 6. Agitated
- 7. Paranoid
- 8. With stupor

Related to the Cycle of Life

- a. Childhood Depression
- b. Adolescent Depression
- c. Postpartum Depression
- d. Involutional Melancholia
- e. Senile Depression

Secondary Depressions

- a. Depression with Neurological Disorders or Organic Psychoses
- b. Depression with Endocrine Disorders
- c. Depression with Other Physical Illnesses
- d. Drug-Induced Depression
- e. Schizophrenic Depression

A classification based on genetic or biochemical mechanisms is not justified or possible at the present time. Frazier (1976) reminds us that

A variety of hypotheses still exists about the role of chemical transmitter systems in the biology of depression, an area which has continued to be of interest to researchers. There has been a continuing debate between British and American psychiatrists regarding the relative roles serotonin and norepinephrine play in the biology of depression.

In a very scholarly paper Akiskal and McKinney (1975) tried to integrate ten conceptual models of depression, but they failed to draw a classification based on chemistry or on theories which would explain the "leap from chemistry to behavior." They wrote that "biochemical statements that propose a causal relationship between a chemical event in the brain and a set of observable behaviors or subjective experiences present serious philosophical problems." They quote Smythies (1973) in his assertion that attempts to explain mind only in terms of brain chemistry encounter irreducible and unsurmountable elements.

The Task Force on Nomenclature and Statistics of the American Psychiatric Association has proposed the following classification of mood disorders:

Unipolar manic disorder			
296.01X	Single episode		
296.02X	Recurrent		
Unipolar depressive disorder			
296.11X	Single episode		
296.12X	Recurrent		
Bipolar mood disorder			
296.20X	Manic		
296.30X	Depressed		
296.40X	Mixed		

Intermittent mood disorders

301.110	Intermittent depressive disorder		
301.120	Intermittent hypomanic disorder		
300.410	Demoralization disorder		
Other mood disorders			
300.420	Other depressive disorder		
296.610	Other manic disorder		
296.620	Other bipolar disorder		

An "X" as the sixth digit indicates that the current condition is further specified as: 1 = mild; 2 = moderate; 3 = severe, but not psychotic; 4 = psychotic; 5 = in partial remission; 6 = in full remission.

I participated in the "Working Conference to Critically Examine DSM-III in Midstream," which took place in St. Louis, Missouri on June 10-12, 1976. During the conference many participants objected to the classification proposed by the task force. The categories "intermittent mood disorders" seemed unclear and unnecessary to several participants who thought that

these conditions are only mild forms of affective disorders. Many also objected to the proposed term "demoralization disorder" intended to designate neurotic depression. Maria Kovacs of the University of Pennsylvania School of Medicine stated, "The use of the word *demoralization* seems out of place. In a sense, every patient who recognizes his illness and comes for treatment is demoralized. According to the dictionary, demoralization means loss of morale, loss of psychological well-being because one has lost one's sense of purpose and confidence in the future, or loss of task-related attitudes expected and shared by one's group. By this definition, the concept is true of practically all psychiatric patients as well as numerous other people who might not exhibit long-term, chronic low self-esteem."

I also objected to the term "demoralization disorder," as well as to the term psychotic depression as it was described in the proposed nomenclature; that is, referring only to a condition that presents delusions and hallucinations. I repeated the same objections made earlier in this chapter.

I also stated that the term "mood disorders" seemed to me less appropriate than "affective disorders." First, the word mood as commonly used in English generally refers to the usual disposition of the personality and to the usual gamut of variations found within the limits of normality. The word affective has a deeper impact, more commensurate with the depth that affective disorders can reach. Secondly, it is one of the aims of DSM-III to

preserve similarity with European nomenclatures. The word mood is very difficult to translate into foreign languages, especially those deriving from Latin. The French word *humeur* could not be used correctly. In several classifications the component *thymo*, from the Greek *thymos*, is used to mean affect. I suggested maintaining the term "affective disorders." I also pointed out that the use of the term unipolar to specify the disorders that have only depressive or manic episodes, although increasing in popularity, is incorrect and should be discouraged. Polarity means having or showing two contrary qualities, forms, or positions. The terms for two poles, like North Pole and South Pole, are called correlational terms; like husband and wife, one cannot exist without the other. If the earth were shaped like a pear, it would have one apex but not one pole. It is true that the term unipolar is used in electricity, but for something devised artificially. We would never say that a pear is unipolar. I suggested that the terms monophasic and biphasic be used instead of unipolar and bipolar.

Primary Depressions

Mild Depressions

Mild depressions can be classified into different types, but all or most of them share some characteristics which I shall describe here. Most conspicuous is the feeling of depression, except in those conditions called masked depressions and in syndromes of depersonalization.

Depression as a symptom is difficult to differentiate from the feeling of depression as a normal emotion, generally called sadness, which is part of the gamut of feelings of the average individual. Depression as a rule is experienced with greater intensity than sadness. It is an unpleasant feeling, difficult to overlook or shake off. It does not tend to fade away spontaneously except after a more or less prolonged period of time. As a matter of fact, the person who feels depressed often does not see how he will be able to get rid of his depressed feeling. Often it appears to him that he will remain depressed forever. Actually the opposite is true; in almost every case of mild depression the feeling sooner or later subsides or disappears completely. In many cases, however, it also recurs.

The second characteristic of mild depression is that the patient does not want to have such a despondent feeling; he rejects it, but does not know how to get rid of it. He recognizes that his symptom is unwarranted or exaggerated, and that it is a handicap and to some extent disruptive of the normal functions of life. In other words, he is aware of the dystonic nature of the symptom. The patient is generally correct in this regard: the depressive mood delays his spontaneous behavior and planned activities, requires an extra effort for concentration and work, keeps him distracted from what he would rather do or think, and leaves little room for other emotions. In some

cases the patient is able to connect the depression with an event that almost everybody else also would consider unpleasant, but his reaction is nevertheless exaggerated. In Gutheil's words (1959) he is not only sad, but pessimistic. For Gutheil, pessimism is the added element that changes simple sadness into depression. We may add that this pessimism is often but not always accompanied by feelings of loneliness, unworthiness, and self-criticism.

Ideas that life is not worthwhile occur and suicidal projects present themselves, but not in an enduring fashion. Generally suicidal ideas are not carried out.

Psychosomatic and somatic symptoms accompany almost every case of depression. Appetite and eating habits change. In a large number of patients there is a noticeable but not excessive loss of weight. On the other hand, in a considerable number of patients there is a considerable increase in weight. The patient eats in an effort to assuage his depression.

Sleep dysfunction is also a frequent symptom. Many patients complain of insomnia; yet they may sleep longer than usual, either because they do not want to face the day or because they really believe, at least at a manifest level, that their sleep requirements have increased. They claim that unless they sleep longer hours they feel fatigued, but fatigue remains a common symptom

even if they do sleep longer than usual. Constipation is also a common complaint. Many mildly depressed patients complain of a decrease in sexual libido, and yet some of them indulge more than usual in sexual behavior in an attempt to find solace.

In addition to all or most of these characteristics, mild depressions have other traits that permit special classification. In some cases it is impossible to ascertain to what type the depression should be ascribed. The whole issue of whether such classification is warranted also is a matter of debate.

One of these varieties can be called depressive character (Bemporad, 1976) or depressive personality. In these cases, according to Bemporad, "depression appears to be a *constant* mode of feeling lurking in the background during everyday life." It is a conscious reaction to the loss of a state of well-being. Contrary to some of the other character or personality disorders, the patient is dissatisfied with his condition and would like to change it. The unpleasant feeling often occurs after seemingly insignificant frustration. Bemporad reports that in the depressive character it is easy to find the primary triad of cognitive sets described by Beck (1967): a negative view of the world, the self, and the future.

The main feature of this variety of mild depression is its constant or almost constant character, so that the depressive mood becomes an

important feature of the character. The patient is usually referred to as a depressed person. In some cases the patient does not describe himself as depressed, but as a person who is bored and has lost "la joie de vivre," or sees no possibility of joyful excitement in his life.

The variety of depression which we are going to describe now has received much more consideration in psychiatric literature—that is, reactive depression. This condition is characterized chiefly by the fact that it starts after the occurrence of an unpleasant happening in the life of the patient, or after an event which is considered by the patient to be adverse or unwelcome.

Bereavement, or loss through death of a person dear to the patient, is probably the most common precipitating factor of reactive depression. As we shall describe in greater detail in chapter 5, sadness due to mourning is a normal experience. Whereas the normal person sooner or later recovers from the experience of grief, however, the person who becomes depressed finds himself unable to shake off this unpleasant feeling. On the contrary, the anguish lingers and may become even more severe.

In my experience reactive depression connected with marital difficulties is very common. Also frequent is the depression over the end of a love relation, or over the loss of the loved person as an object of love. Loss of employment, disappointments at work, lack of promotion, financial

difficulties, breaking up an important friendship, loss of status and prestige, and insults received are precipitating factors of reactive depression that can be easily understood even at a reality level.

The situation is more complex when the loss apparently does not justify the intensity of the depression; for instance, when the death of a bird, the loss of a handkerchief, or the inability to get tickets for a show provoke a depression. It seems easy to conclude in these cases that the precipitating event has a symbolic value, as we shall see in greater detail later in this book. In some cases of reactive depression other symptoms occur often, but not always: irritability, anger, an insatiable desire to get or obtain, and even a desire to alienate or manipulate others.

Another type of mild depression is "depression with anxiety." It consists of a clinical picture in which depression and anxiety occur concurrently. It is generally included under the group of depressions if the depressive mood is the prevailing one, although anxiety plays an important role in the total picture. In addition to being depressed, the patient is anxious, worried, expects something bad to happen, and is generally fearful of his own usual activities. In some instances he gives the impression of preferring to be depressed rather than anxious, and that the depression is an escape from anxiety. However, if the depression reaches great proportions, it may become more intolerable than the anxiety.

Another variety, more frequent than it would seem from eases reported in the literature, is the combination of depression and obsessive-compulsive symptoms. In addition to being depressed, the patient presents obsessions, compulsions, and rituals of the obsessive-compulsive kind. Contrary to what occurs in typical cases of obsessive-compulsive psychoneurosis, the obsessive and especially the compulsive symptoms are not very resistant. In some cases at least they are more easily overcome in obsessive-compulsive depression than in a typical obsessive-compulsive psychoneurosis.

Obsessive-compulsive depression is not uncommon in very religious persons who have learned to practice rituals in a compulsive way. Some of these cases are not mild and can be classified more properly as cases of severe depression in which obsessive-compulsive symptoms also appear.

The next two types of depression are characterized by the absence of depression as a feeling state of which the patient is aware. The first of these conditions is called masked depression. Doubts about the existence of such a clinical entity stem not only from different criteria of classification, but also from semantic and philosophical sources. In fact, can we talk of a feeling which is not felt? Can we talk of a felt experience which is not experienced? Freud too felt that an idea may become unconscious but an emotion by definition must always be felt.

In 1944 Kennedy reported that in many patients the symptomatology consists almost exclusively of somatic dysfunctions, which he called manic-depressive equivalents. Such terms as masked, hidden, or missed depression have appeared especially in the German literature. In 1937 Hempel published a paper on depression in which he characterized autonomic nervous disorders, and in 1949 Lemke wrote about depression of the vegetative system. Perhaps imitating the terminology used in reference to epilepsy, Ibor Lopes (1966) wrote about depressive equivalents and of *depressio sine depressione*.

According to Berner, Katschnig, and Poldinger (1973) most of the authors who use the expression masked depression mean "a depression in which the physical manifestations conceal the psychopathological symptomatology." Other people mean "a depression not recognized by a previous examiner who believed it to be a somatic disease." Still others call masked depression "any depression characterized by masked physical signs and symptoms." These are circular definitions. When we say that masked depression is a depression characterized by physical symptomatology, we offer only a tautologic statement deprived of any explanatory value. In fact we would have to demonstrate that the physical symptomatology is indeed a form of depression.

Geisler (1973) made a study of patients suffering from masked

depression who were diagnosed as suspected of suffering from internal diseases such as angina pectoris, autonomic nervous dystonia, cardiovascular disorders, cholecystitis, colitis, diverticulitis, food allergy, neoplasm, and pernicious anemia. Thirty-six patients suffering from masked depression complained of sleep disorders, lack of appetite, abdominal symptoms, anxiety, cardiac symptoms, constipation, and so on. According to Geisler, the most frequent combination of symptoms consisted of complaints referring to organs, sleep disorders, poor appetite, and anxiety.

According to Braceland (1966) the six most frequent symptoms of masked depression are insomnia, tiredness, gastric and epigastric discomfort, anorexia, headache, and general abdominal pain. In many of these cases the differential diagnosis from hypochondriasis or psychosomatic conditions is difficult to make. In some cases the diagnosis reflects the classificatory habits of the therapist more than the nature of the condition.

In my opinion a common form of masked depression is the condition which is generally referred to as alcoholism. A considerable number of depressed people hide their depression by making immoderate use of alcohol, and therefore they are considered alcoholic. They often reveal their depression during the alcohol-free intervals. That they are fundamentally depressed also is revealed by the fact that most of them respond satisfactorily to antidepressants like imipramine.

An uncommon type of depression without depressive feeling is one often assumes the characteristics of the syndrome depersonalization. The person no longer feels like himself. Sensations are dull; perceptions are changed; reality may appear modified or transformed; a sense of distance and of space seems unreal. The person's voice or part of his body seems not to belong to him. The patient is depersonalized insofar as he has the feeling that he is not the same person and he cannot think, feel, act, or be motivated as he used to be. Up to this point the picture seems unrelated to depression, but the fact is that at times the patient does feel depressed. Another characteristic that suggests the depressive nature of this syndrome is the fact that some of these patients (but not all) respond well to electric shock treatment, at least for a temporary remission. They also improve with amphetamine and amphetamine derivatives. By no means is it implied here that all or even most patients suffering from depersonalization are depressed.

There is an additional remark to be made about both masked depression and depersonalization. It is more than doubtful that if they belong to the category of depression, they should be included under the group of mild rather than severe depressions. In some of these cases the symptomatology is quite marked and incapacitating.

Severe Depression

Severe depression as a clinical entity has been known since antiquity. Its features are generally very pronounced, easily recognizable, and much more easily definable than those of mild depression.

What seems to have remained unchanged from the time of Hippocrates to the late 1950s is a picture of an intense state of depression in which one can almost always recognize a profound and overwhelming theme of self-blame, hopelessness, and self-depreciation. Although cases with this classic picture are still very common, others—with a picture which I call claiming depression—occur with increasing frequency.

We shall review the various syndromes of severe depression with the understanding that the division into types and varieties is not very well established and in many cases still a matter of controversial debate.

Classic Form Of Severe Depression

Severe depression is characterized by the following triad of psychological symptoms: (1) a pervasive feeling of melancholia; (2) a disorder of thought processes, characterized by retardation and unusual content; and (3) psychomotor retardation. In addition there are accessory somatic dysfunctions.

The pervasive mood of depression at times has its onset quite acutely

and dramatically, at other times slowly and insidiously. The patient generally has had previous attacks of depression which, because they were mild in intensity, passed unnoticed or were considered by the patient and his family as normal variations of mood. Even an attack that will later appear severe in intensity is misunderstood at first. An unpleasant event has occurred, such as the death of a close relative or a grief of any kind, and a mood of sadness is justified. However, when a certain period of time has elapsed and the unhappy feeling should have subsided, it seems instead to become more intense. The patient complains that he cannot think freely, feels unable to work, cannot eat, and sleeps only a few hours a night.

As the symptoms increase in intensity, the patient himself may request to be taken to a physician. Often, however, the illness is advanced to such a degree that the patient no longer is able to make such a decision and he consults a physician at the initiative of family members. When the physician sees the patient, he is impressed by his unhappy, sad appearance. The patient looks older than his age, his forehead is wrinkled, and his face, although undergoing very little mimic play, reveals a despondent mood. In some cases the main fold of the upper eyelid at the edges of its inner third is contracted upward and a little backward (sign of Veraguth).

In most cases the examiner is led astray by the complaints of the patient, which consist of physical pain, a feeling of discomfort, digestive difficulties, lack of appetite, and insomnia. The physician may interpret these complaints as simple psychosomatic dysfunctions. They may persist and constitute a syndrome of severe masked depression. In the majority of cases, however, the mood of melancholia sooner or later becomes prominent and leads to an easy diagnosis.

The patient is often at a loss to describe the experience of melancholia. He says that his chest is heavy, his body is numb; he would like to sleep, but he cannot; he would like to immerse himself in activities, but he cannot; he would even like to cry, but he cannot. "The eyes have consumed all the tears." "Life is a torment." There is at the same time a desire to punish oneself by destroying oneself, which at the same time would end one's suffering. Suicidal ideas occur in about 75 percent of patients, and actual suicide attempts are made by at least 10 to 15 percent. Often the suicide attempt occurs when it is not expected, because the patient seems to have made some improvement and the depression is less pronounced. In a minority of suicide attempts, the suicidal idea was carefully concealed from the members of the family. The desire to end life applies only to the life of the patient himself, with one important exception to be kept in mind always: young mothers who undergo psychotic depression often plan to destroy not only themselves but their children, who presumably are considered by the patient to be an extension of herself. Newspaper reports about mothers who have killed themselves and their little children in most cases refer to patients suffering from

unrecognized attacks of severe depression.

The other important symptom of depression concerns the content and type of thinking. As far as the content is concerned, the thoughts of the patient are characterized by gloomy, morbid ideas. In some cases, at the beginning of the attack, ideas occur that at first may not be recognized as part of the ensuing picture of psychotic depression. They may be phobic, obsessive, or obscene. They are followed by discouraging ideas which acquire more and more prominence. The patient feels that he will not be able to work, he will lose his money, something bad will happen to his family, somebody is going to get hurt, or the family is in extreme poverty. There is no great variety in the patient's thoughts. It is almost as if the patient purposely selects the thoughts that have an unpleasant content. *They are not thoughts as thoughts; they are chiefly carriers of mental pain*.

The distortion caused by the unpleasantness of the mood at times transforms these melancholic thoughts into almost delusional ideas or into definite delusions. They often represent distortions of the body image and hypochondriasis. The patient thinks he has cancer, tuberculosis, syphilis, and so on. His brain is melting, his bowels have been lost, his heart does not beat. Delusions of poverty are also common. Ideas of guilt, sin, and self-condemnation are very pronounced, especially in serious cases. At times these self-accusatory ideas are so unrealistic that the name "delusion" seems

appropriate for them. "It is all my fault;" "It is all my responsibility." In some cases the tendency to blame oneself reaches the absurd; the patient blames himself for being sick or for "succumbing to the illness." In some cases, he feels that he is not really sick but he acts as if he were sick. This impression is almost the opposite of what we find in some schizophrenics, in whom there is the idea that the world is a big stage, and what happens in the world is an act or a play. The depressed patient, on the contrary, feels that he is acting the part of the sick person. Incidentally, this idea occurs generally when the patient starts to recover from his depressed attack.

These delusional ideas cannot always be traced back to an exaggeration or distortion of mood. In cases that have a mixed paranoid and melancholic symptomatology, the delusions are more inappropriate and bizarre and are in no way distinguishable from those of paranoid patients.

In a small percentage of severely depressed patients there are obsessive-compulsive thoughts, similar to those occurring in obsessive-compulsive psychoneuroses or in mild depression with obsessive features. The pervasive mood of depression prevails, however, in the context of the complex symptomatology.

In the classical or traditional type of psychotic depression, the main theme is a self-blaming attitude. In severe cases the patient seems to transmit the following message: "Do not help me. I do not deserve to be helped. I deserve to die." Together with this peculiar content of thought, there is a retardation of thinking processes. The patient complains that he cannot concentrate; he cannot focus his attention. At first he can read, but without retaining what he reads. Writing is more difficult for him and composing a letter requires tremendous effort. If the patient is a student, he cannot study any longer. Thoughts seem to follow each other at a very slow pace. Speech is also slow. In a severe state of stupor the patient cannot talk at all.

Hallucinations in severe depression are described by many authors, especially in the old textbooks. According to the experience of many psychiatrists, however, they are much less common in severe depression than they used to be. This difference is not apparent, in the sense that patients who hallucinate are now diagnosed as schizophrenics. I have found that hallucinations do occur, although rarely, in some severely depressed patients. They have the following characteristics:

- 1. They are very rare in comparison to their occurrence in schizophrenia.
- 2. They do not have the distinct perceptual and auditory quality that they have in schizophrenia. The patients often cannot repeat what the voices say; they sound indistinct. The patients describe them as "as if rocks were falling," or as "bells which ring." Often they seem more like illusions than

hallucinations, or as transformations of actual perceptions.

- 3. They can be related to the prevailing mood of the patient much more easily than in schizophrenia. Their secondary character—that is, secondary to the overall mood—is obvious. They are generally depressive and denigratory in content, often commanding self-destruction or injury.
- 4. More frequently than in schizophrenic patients, they occur at night, less frequently during the day. The depressed patient, who is in contact with external reality more than the schizophrenic, possibly needs the removal of diurnal stimuli in order to become aware of these inner phenomena.

Another important sign of the classic type of depression consists of retarded hypoactivity. The actions of the patient decrease in number, and even those which are carried out are very slow. Even the perceptions are retarded. Talking is reduced to a minimum, although a minority of patients retain the tendency to be loquacious. Working at the usual daily tasks of life is postponed or retarded. The patient avoids doing many things but continues to do what is essential. Women neglect their housework and their appearance. Every change seems to require a tremendous effort. Interpersonal relations are cut off. In some less pronounced cases, however, the opposite at first seems to occur. The patient, who is prone to accuse himself and extoll others, becomes more affectionate toward the members of his family and willing to do many things for them in an unselfish manner.

However, when the disorder increases in intensity later, he becomes indifferent to everybody.

The physical symptoms that accompany classic depressive attacks are reduction in sleep, decrease in appetite, and considerable loss in weight. These symptoms do not seem to be due to a specific or direct physiological mechanism, but rather are related to or are a consequence of the depression. Many patients complain of dryness of the mouth, which is to be attributed to decreased secretion of the parotid glands (Strongin and Hinsie, 1938).

Other frequent symptoms are constipation, backache, amenorrhea, and dryness of the skin. There is a definite decrease in sexual desire, often to the point of complete impotence or frigidity. In many patients sugar is found in the urine during the attack. The basal metabolism tends to be slightly lower than normal.

The Claiming Type Of Depression

As we have already mentioned, since the late 1950s there has been a decline in the number of cases showing the classic type of depression, either as part of manic-depressive psychosis or as part of pure depression. Moreover, the cases that we do see seldom reach those severe degrees which used to be very common. Another type of depression is frequently observed now, whose symptomatology has the appearance of an appeal, a cry for help.

The patient is anguished but wants people near him to become very aware of his condition. All his symptoms seem to imply the message, "Help me; pity me. It is in your power to relieve me. If I suffer, it is because you don't give me what I need." Even the suicidal attempt or prospect is an appeal of "Do not abandon me" or, "You have the power to prevent my death. I want you to know it." In other words, the symptomatology, although colored by an atmosphere of depression, is a gigantic claim. Now it is the gestalt of depression that looms in the foreground with the claim lurking behind; now it is the claim which looms, with the depression apparently receding. Poorly hidden also are feelings of hostility for people close to the patient, such as members of the family who do not give the patient as much as he would like. If anger is expressed, feelings of guilt and depression follow. Whereas the patient with the self-blaming type of depression generally wants to be left alone, the claiming type of patient is clinging, dependent, and demanding. Self-accusation and guilt feelings play a secondary role or no role at all in this type of depression.

Whereas in the self-blaming type of depression there is a decrease of appetite and insomnia, in the claiming type the appetite is not necessarily diminished and quite often there is a need and ability to sleep longer than usual. In some cases the patient does not want to get up from bed and wishes to return to it several times during the day.

Other Clinical Varieties Of Depression

Some authors distinguish several varieties of severe depression: the simple, the acute, the paranoid, and the depressive stupor.

Simple depression is characterized by the moderate intensity of symptoms and may make the diagnosis of psychosis difficult. Delusions and hallucinations are absent. Although there is psychomotor retardation, the patient is able to take care of his basic vital needs. Suicidal ideas and attempts also occur in this type. In recent years cases of simple depression seem to have increased in number.

In *acute depression* the symptoms are much more pronounced. Self-accusation and ideas of sin and poverty are prominent. Some depressive ideas bordering on delusion are present. The loss of weight is very marked.

In *paranoid depression*, although the prominent feature remains the depressed mood, delusional ideas play an important role. The patient feels that he is watched, spied on, or threatened. Somebody wants to hurt him. Hypochondriacal delusions with pronounced distortion of the body image may occur. As in the case of hallucinations, these delusions seem secondary to the prevailing mood of the patient. They disappear easily when the mood changes. Hallucinations may also occur.

Depressive stupor is the most pronounced form of depression. Here there is more than psychomotor retardation: the movements are definitely inhibited or suppressed. The patients are so absorbed in their own pervasive feelings of depression that they cannot focus their attention on their surroundings. They do not seem to hear; they do not respond. They are mute, with the exception of some occasional utterances. Even mimic expressions are absent and the face seems mask-like, in a way reminiscent of the faces of some post-encephalitic and Parkinsonian patients. Since the patients cannot focus on anything, they give the impression of being apathetic, whereas they are actually the prey of a deep, disturbing emotion. These patients cannot take care of themselves. Generally they lie in bed mute and have to be spoonfed.

Unless they are successfully treated during the attack, physical health may suffer severely. Patients lose up to a hundred pounds in certain cases; they are constipated, and their circulation is enfeebled.

All the types of depression that we have so far described are also characterized by a lack of manic features or episodes during their course.

Depressive Phase Of Manic-Depressive Psychosis

All the clinical varieties of severe depression that we have described also appear as the depressive phase of manic-depressive psychosis.

In manic-depressive psychosis the classic type of depression is probably the most frequent. However, the claiming type, or mixed self-blaming and claiming type, also appears with typical or atypical symptomatology, as well as forms of simple depression, acute depression, paranoid depression, and depressive stupor.

What chiefly characterizes the depression occurring in manicdepressive psychosis is that it is followed regularly or occasionally by manic episodes. Inasmuch as the depressive picture is not dissimilar to the ones so far described, this section will be devoted to examination of the manic episode. The manic attack is not an attack of depression. Nevertheless we shall describe it here because it is a frequent component of a syndrome in which primary severe depression is an important part.

In the manic attack, as in an attack of severe depression, the symptomatology is characterized by: (1) a change in mood, which is one of elation (2) a disorder of thought processes, characterized by flight of ideas and happy content; and (3) an increased motility. Accessory body changes also occur.

It is difficult in many instances to determine the beginning of the episode. The patient is often in a lively mood. He strikes the observer as being an extrovert, active individual who likes to talk a great deal and do many

things. At the time of the attack, however, the over joyousness of the patient seems out of proportion and occasionally inappropriate; for instance, when he easily dismisses things which should make him sad and continues to be in his happy mood. The patient appears exuberant very sociable, and at times even succeeds in transmitting his happiness to the surrounding persons. This mood, however, is not constant or solid. We are not referring here to the alternations with depression, but to the fact that this euphoric mood may easily change into one of irritation or even rage and anger, especially when the patient becomes aware that the environment does not respond to his enthusiasm or does not react in accordance with the exalted opinion that he has of himself.

The thinking disorder is prominent and reveals itself in verbal productions. The patient talks very fast and cannot concentrate on any subject for more than a few seconds. Any marginal idea is expressed; any secondary, distracting stimulus affects the patient. The thoughts expressed are not disconnected but maintain some apparent ties. We can always determine that the ideas are connected by the elementary laws of association, but the talk as a whole is verbose, circumstantial, and not directed toward any goal or toward the logical demonstration of any point which is discussed. The ensemble of these thought and language alterations is called "flight of ideas."

Actually this type of verbal behavior has a goal—that of maintaining this

superficial effervescent euphoria and escaping from intruding thoughts which may bring about depression. In less pronounced cases the patient realizes that he has unduly allowed details to interfere with the original goal of his conversation, and he tries to go back to it but again gets lost in many details.

In this incessant logorrhea, the patient makes jokes. The propensity toward associations leads to repeated clang associations which the patient uses to make jokes, puns, and so on (Arieti, 1950). In rare cases the lack of thought inhibition facilitates a certain artistic propensity which does not, however, lead to achievement because of the lack of concentration.

Lorenz and Cobb (1952) and Lorenz (1953), who made an accurate study of speech in manic patients, reported that in manic speech there is a quantitative change in the use of certain speech elements, namely: (1) a relative increase in the use of pronouns and verbs; (2) a relative decrease in the use of adjectives and prepositions; and (3) a high verb-adjective quotient (that is, the proportion of adjectives is decreased). These authors found no gross disorganization at the level of structural elements, and they postulated that the defect in manic speech occurs at higher integrative levels of language formulation. They concluded that, "If the assumption of a correlation between emotional states and verb-adjective quotient is correct, the manic patient's speech gives objective evidence of a heightened degree of anxiety."

The rapid association ability that the manic possesses enables him to grasp immediately some aspects of the environment which otherwise would pass unnoticed. The patient is in the paradoxical situation in which his ability to observe and grasp environmental stimuli has increased, but he cannot make use of it because of his distractibility.

The patient's thought content often reveals an exalted opinion of himself. The patient may boast that he is very rich, a great lover, a famous actor, a prominent businessman. These statements receive flimsy support. When asked to prove them, the patient attempts to do so but soon is lost in a web of unnecessary details. He may become excitable if he is reminded of the goal of the conversation. Disturbances of the sensorium are generally of minimal intensity and are caused by the exalted mood or distractibility, not by intellectual impairment.

Motor activity is increased. Manic patients are always on the go, in a state that ranges from mild motor excitement to incessant and wild activity. They talk, sing, dance, tease, destroy, move objects. In severe states these actions or movements remain unfinished and purposeless. In spite of their constant activity, manic patients do not feel tired and have tremendous endurance.

Accessory somatic symptoms consist of loss of weight which is generally

not as pronounced as in depression, decrease in appetite, and constipation. Insomnia is marked. The blood pressure is generally lowered. Menses are irregular. Sexual functions, although apparently increased in hypomanic states, are generally decreased or disturbed in various ways in manic conditions.

Manic Varieties. As with depression, many forms of manic states have been described by early authors. A brief description of them follows.

In *hypomania* the symptoms are not of a marked intensity. As mentioned before, it is difficult at times to say whether the patient is showing his usual extrovert personality or the beginning of an illness. He seems full of pep and in good humor. He wants to do many things. His verbal abilities are accentuated. Although he has always had a talent for foreign languages, he now speaks many of them without hesitation, unconcerned with the mistakes he makes. Some of these patients increase their activities to such an exaggerated degree that they show very poor judgment. They are actually compelled by their inner excitability and by their exalted mood. They may walk for miles and miles. Generally they have a goal (for instance, to reach the next village), but not a necessary one. They may send out hundreds of unnecessary letters or greeting cards and make a large number of lengthy telephone calls. They often go on spending sprees, with disastrous economic consequences. Their sexual activity is increased, and lack of control may bring

about unpleasant results. Illegitimate pregnancies in hypomanic women and venereal diseases in hypomanic men and women are relatively common.

The excitability, richness of movements, and euphoric mood give a bizarre flavor to the manic's behavior. A female patient, in order to show a sore to a physician, completely undressed in front of him. Occasionally even thefts and fraudulent acts are committed. The patient retains the ability to rationalize his actions, at times to such an extent that the layman is confused and believes in the patient's sanity.

In *acute mania* the symptoms are much more pronounced. They may accelerate gradually, from a previously hypomanic state, or rapidly, from a normal condition. The patient is in such a state of extreme restlessness that his behavior may be very disturbing and difficult to control. He may disrupt theatrical audiences, sing or scream in the street, or ring bells. If an attempt is made to control him, he may become belligerent. The mood is one of such exaltation that spontaneous thoughts of self-aggrandizement are accepted immediately.

A subtype which Kraepelin differentiated from acute mania is delusional mania, characterized by an abundance of grandiose delusional ideas reminiscent of those found in the expansive type of general paresis.

Delirious mania represents an extreme stage of excitement. The patient

is incoherent, disoriented, restless, and agitated. He may easily injure himself and others in his aimless activity. Restraint, chemical or physical, is an absolute necessity to avoid exhaustion which may lead to death. Hallucinations and delusions are frequent.

In addition to the types just mentioned, Kraepelin has described *mixed* states which are characterized by a combination of manic and depressive symptoms. He distinguishes the following six principal types: (1) manic stupor; (2) agitated depression; (3) unproductive mania; (4) depressive mania; (5) depression with flight of ideas; and (6) akinetic mania.

The names given to these types indicate the combination of chief symptoms for each. Of the six types, perhaps the most common is agitated depression. In this condition a motor restlessness, typical of a manic excitement, is superimposed on a markedly depressive symptomatology.

Although the types of manic-depressive psychosis have been described as if they were separate entities, all the types are related, as Kraepelin saw when he first formulated the large nosological concept of manic-depressive psychosis.

The melancholic and the manic attack, which at first seem so different, have an intrinsic similarity; the same mental functions are altered, although the alterations are in a certain way opposite. Whereas in depression the mood

is one of melancholia, in the manic attack it is one of elation; whereas in depression the thought processes and motor activity are retarded, in the manic attack a flight of ideas and increased motility are found.

One of the main characteristics of manic-depressive psychosis is the recurrence of the attacks, which has conferred to the disorder the designation, often used in Europe, of intermittent psychosis.

The attack may occur in different successions, which old books of psychiatry described at great length and with many illustrations that represented the manic attack as a positive wave and the depression as a negative wave. A sequence of a depressed phase followed by a manic phase is the typical pattern of circular psychosis. We may observe, however, that the attacks of depression far outnumber those of mania. Some patients may undergo a conspicuous number of depressions without ever having a manic phase.

There seems to be no relation between the duration of the attack and of normal intervals. At times, short attacks recur several times in short succession, but occasionally the series is interrupted by a long normal interval. I have seen several cases in which an attack of depression in the patient's early twenties was not followed by a second one until the patient had reached his middle sixties or even seventies. Kraepelin illustrated that

many attacks of depression occurring later in life, which many authors consider as a subtype of senile psychosis, must instead be considered to be late occurrences or relapses of manic-depressive psychosis.

According to Pollock et al. (1939) 58.1 percent of patients have only one attack, 26.1 percent have two attacks, 9.3 have three attacks, and 6.5 percent have more than three attacks. Occasionally, one finds a patient who has had 25 or even more attacks.

The age at which the first attack occurs varies. It may even happen in childhood in rare cases. By far the largest number of first attacks occur between the ages of twenty and thirty-five. Manic attacks are slightly more frequent between the ages of twenty and forty. After forty, their ratio to depressive attacks decreases further. Women are more susceptible to this psychosis than men. (About 70 percent of patients are women.)

The illness generally results in recovery as far as the individual attack is concerned. Repeated attacks usually cause very little intellectual impairment. Death, however, may occur in two instances: suicide in depression, and exhaustion or cardiac insufficiency in cases of delirious mania. Another situation which we shall discuss later is the change of the manic-depressive symptomatology into a schizophrenic one, either shortly after the onset of the illness or even after many years of hospitalization. [1]

Prognostic criteria as to the future course of the condition are very difficult when the patient is examined only from the point of view of manifest symptomatology. Contrary to what happens in schizophrenia, the manifest symptomatology of manic-depressive psychosis will rarely permit prediction as to whether the patient will have only the present attack, a few, or many in his lifetime. The prognosis is almost always good as to the individual attack, but it is uncertain as to the possibility of recurrence. Rennie (1942) in an accurate statistical study found that the prognosis is worse when attacks occur after the age of forty. He found that 70 percent of all patients had a second attack; 63.5 percent a third; and 45 percent a fourth. The more frequent the attacks, the worse the prognosis is.

Involutional Melancholia

A common type of depression occurs during the climacterium (menopause), or shortly before or after, and is generally called involutional melancholia. This diagnosis was made more frequently in the past, before the advent of electric shock treatment, drug therapy, or psychotherapy on a large scale. Patients were admitted to psychiatric hospitals where at times they remained for very long periods of time, in some cases even for the rest of their lives. The majority of patients remained sick from one to five years. I myself while working at Pilgrim State Hospital saw many patients so diagnosed who had remained in the hospital for even more than ten years.

The advent of electric shock treatment dramatically changed the picture and permitted the complete loss of symptomatology which had persisted for so long. All the mentioned types of treatment have drastically changed the course of the illness and permit a much more favorable prognosis.

Involutional melancholia is a syndrome characterized by severe depression which generally occurs for the first time during the so-called involutional age—between the ages of forty to fifty-eight in women, and fifty to sixty-five in men. It is much more common in women.

The onset may be gradual and be manifested by anxiety, apprehension, hypochondriasis, and in some cases by quasi-paranoid attitudes toward acquaintances, relatives, friends, co-workers, and so forth. Irritability and pessimism predominate at first, together with an excessive preoccupation with bodily functions and a fear of illnesses. Restlessness and frank motor agitation subsequently become the main feature in most cases. Psychomotor retardation, typical of other severe types of depression, is absent in many cases or not very pronounced. However, the patient is definitely less active than before the onset of the illness. The lack of purposeful activity at times contrasts with the motor restlessness. Female patients often are prompt to attribute their symptoms to menopause and to minimize psychological factors of any sort. In some cases that run a very acute and serious course, the examiner feels he is dealing with a person who considers his/her life already

coming to an end. The remaining years are seen as a prolonged agony which it would be better to terminate with a self-imposed coup de grace.

In the past the most pronounced forms of depression were seen in involutional melancholia even more than in the depressive phase of manic-depressive psychosis or in other types of severe depression. Prior to the introduction of three types of treatment—electric shock treatment, drug therapy, and psychotherapy—the current belief of the medical staff in psychiatric hospitals was that only "about one-third of hospitalized cases lived through their psychosis to survive" (Bigelow, 1959). We must remember that these were hospitalized cases, and that this evaluation did not include milder cases which were never hospitalized. Today the prognosis is quite different. If suicide is avoided, recovery or very marked improvement occurs in 100 percent of cases.

In early studies of this condition, the prepsychotic personality of the involutional patient was described as being characterized by rigid adherence to the ethical code, narrow range of interests, meticulousness, stubbornness, and poor sexual adjustment (Titley, 1936). Others stressed obsessional, sadomasochistic, introverted personalities (Palmer and Sherman, 1938). Rosenthal (1968, 1974), who has made recent studies of involutional melancholia, does not give much credit to the findings of Palmer and Sherman and of Titley. He states that "one is hard-pressed to find any recent studies

that confirm these findings with more sophisticated statistical techniques."

In addition, all the studies that relate involutional depression to the physical changes of the menopause or to other endocrine functions have led to no conclusive results.

Senile Depression

Senile depression must be distinguished from a depression which occurs in a predominantly organic condition, such as senile psychosis or cerebral arteriosclerosis.

Senile depression is a rather frequent form of generally moderate to severe depression, which is distinguished from the other types of severe depression because it occurs in old age in individuals who have not suffered from depression previously. It is characterized at first by psychosomatic and hypochondriacal preoccupations, followed by an overpowering feeling of depression, guilt, self-deprivation, inhibition of activity, retardation, and marked decrease in interest. At least two-thirds of the patients are women.

Some cases are relatively benign and are often diagnosed as cases of reactive depression because they occur after an unpleasant event has taken place. The most severe cases do not seem to be reactive to any specific event; rather, they seem to represent the unfavorable outcome of an entire life.

In a study reported by Charatan (1975) 52 percent of the patients who had been seen in a geriatric psychiatric outpatient clinic were diagnosed as suffering from an affective disorder—primarily psychotic depression.

In a considerable number of patients who are approaching old age, but who cannot yet really be called old—from their late fifties to middle sixties—the depression seems to be predominantly precipitated by sexual dysfunction or at least sexual preoccupations. Male patients complain that they have difficulty in erecting or that they lose the erection rapidly, ejaculate without strength or momentum, or without enough semen. Women complain of dyspareunia, complete frigidity, or even of total sexual disgust. In a minority of cases in both sexes there is also compulsive masturbation or even promiscuity in an attempt to overcome the depression. In many other cases, especially for widowers, loneliness is a much more frequent complaint than sexual dysfunction.

Postpartum Depression

All kinds of affective conditions may occur after childbirth, from the socalled postpartum blues to mania and psychotic depression. Inasmuch as I consider childbirth to be a precipitating event of great psychological significance although not physically related to the depression, postpartum depression is here included among the primary depressions. The manifest symptomatology of postpartum depression is fundamentally not different from that of other severe depressions. In most cases there is a gradual increase of depressive characteristics. In some cases the condition is recognized several weeks after childbirth and only when a full-blown depression is present.

Frequent symptoms are insomnia, restlessness, hypoactivity, and disinterest or neglect of the child. In some cases there are also phobic and obsessive symptoms, which are quite distressing: the patient is afraid of harming or even killing the child. In less severe cases the patient is afraid that she will not be able to take care of her child. She considers herself a bad or unworthy mother. She either pities the child very much or is completely indifferent to him and considers him an intruder in her life. In still other cases the anxiety about not being able to be a good mother prevails over the feeling of depression.

In the most severe cases a deep depression, often accompanied by guilt and a total feeling of hopelessness, obliterates all other sensations.

Some postpartum depressions recover quite quickly, but most of them are of longer duration than other depressions and of severe intensity, irrespective of whether the depression is monophasic or part of a biphasic manic-depressive psychosis that has been precipitated by childbirth.

A very important distinction must be made in cases of postpartum depression in regard to the safety of the baby. If the patient in an obsessive or phobic way is afraid of hurting or even killing her child, the danger is minimal or practically nonexistent. The patient has to be reassured and told that she is suffering from a fear, not from a determination to do anything harmful. On the other hand, if the patient has no obsessive-compulsive or phobic symptoms, is very depressed, and expresses or nourishes suicidal ideas, the risk is great not only for her but also for the baby. What we mentioned before—that depressed women who commit suicide often include their children in the suicidal act and kill them too—applies especially in postpartum depressions. Twin babies are killed by depressed mothers just as easily as single children. The greatest surveillance is necessary.

Since all types of psychiatric conditions can occur after childbirth, the diagnosis may be difficult in atypical cases. The first diagnostic task consists in ascertaining whether the condition is a postpartum delirium, generally organic in nature, or any other psychiatric condition less frequently associated with organic factors. Delirium, which is characterized generally by confusion, extreme excitement, incoherent or irrelevant thinking, and a rather acute course, has become much less frequent in the last few decades probably because of improved obstetrical care and less probability of toxic conditions during pregnancy. The presence of schizophrenic symptoms such as delusions, hallucinations, or ideas of reference may lead easily to the

diagnosis of schizophrenia.

However, many authors differ in their reports of the incidence of schizophrenic and affective psychoses after childbirth. According to Davidson (1936), schizophrenic and manic-depressive psychoses each constituted 30 percent of postpartum psychiatric disorders. For Boyd (1942), manic-depressive psychosis constituted 40 percent, schizophrenia 20 percent, and delirium 28.5 percent. Strecker and Ebaugh (1926) reported 34 percent delirium, 36 percent manic-depressive, and 20 percent schizophrenic. Protheroe (1969) in England reported almost twice as many cases of affective psychosis as of schizophrenic psychosis. In a review article, Herzog and Detre (1976) state that the discrepancy between English and American statistics may be due to the fact that American clinicians have tended to underdiagnose the incidence of affective disorders and overdiagnose schizophrenia. In my opinion, an additional confusion results from the inability to make a differential diagnosis between manic-depressive psychosis and a depression which is not related to manic-depressive psychosis.

It is a common belief that postpartum conditions are less common today, and as a matter of fact there are many fewer reports about these conditions in the current psychiatric literature than in the literature of a few decades ago. However, according to my clinical experience, this belief is not correct: perhaps postpartum deliriums and full-fledged psychoses are less

common because prenatal care and medical assistance during labor and puerperium have improved. Although I have not been able to develop adequate statistics, my bona fide impression is that less pronounced postpartum conditions are common, and that schizophrenic and affective psychoses are not at all rare.

Suicide

A relatively frequent outcome of severe depression is suicide, which we have already considered in relation to the self-blaming type of depression. We shall consider it here as part of the manifest symptomatology of every severe depression. The psychodynamics of suicide will be studied in chapters 6 and 8.

The occurrence of suicide in all types of severe depression is estimated variously. Rennie (1942) gave a conservative estimate of 5 percent in patients suffering from severe depression. According to Weiss (1974) more than 20,000 suicides are recorded each year in the United States, but Dublin (1963) has estimated that the correct number is 25,000, and Choron (1972) that it is 30,000. If we add to this number the attempted suicides whose exact number cannot be evaluated, we can conclude that the problem is of vast proportions indeed.

Although people who attempt successfully or unsuccessfully to commit

suicide are by no means all depressed persons, the depressed constitute by far the largest group. Feelings of helplessness, hopelessness, failure, and willingness to face death as the only way out are prominent in people who make suicidal attempts. Unfavorable prognostic signs are the seriousness of the depression, a history of previous attempts, the seriousness of intention, advanced age, and old age. The risk increases when the patient is alone and feels that nobody will oppose his plans, and when his depression has decreased in intensity to such a point that he does not feel slowed down in his motor actions or at least in his physical ability to carry out the suicide attempt. Opportunities that facilitate the attempt are also dangerous, like living on a high floor, having a large amount of sleeping pills, the possibility of drowning oneself, or the availability of guns and ropes.

Secondary Depression

Depression With Neurological Or Brain Disease

Depressions accompanying neurological disease are relatively common. Perhaps the most common is the depression occurring in various types of epilepsy. It is less common in epileptics suffering from grand mals, perhaps because the fits have antidepressant effects, like the convulsions produced by ECT. Depression is relatively common in epileptics suffering from petit mals or psychomotor equivalents, or in patients whose electroencephalograms

reveal diencephalic dysfunction or discharges from the temporal lobes.

The risk of suicide in depressed epileptics is very high because the patient has to contend not only with the depression but with the impulsive urges of the epileptic personality. Whether the depression occurring in epileptics is precipitated by the discomfort of the illness itself, or is an epileptic equivalent, or is just a depression that happens to occur in an epileptic person is difficult to determine in the majority of cases. These patients constitute serious therapeutic challenges.

In patients suffering from Huntington's chorea, depressions with suicidal attempts are quite common, especially for female patients (Whittier, 1975). Depression often is seen in postencephalitics. According to Brill (1975) these patients are characteristic for their whining voice, clinging manner, and dependent and complaining attitude. Hypochondriacal symptoms, self-accusations, and delusions of guilt are also common. Neal (1942) found that the most frequent clinical picture was similar to that described by Brill. However, in his review of 201 cases he found that pathological depression was reported nine times, psychotic depression eight times, and hypomania eight times.

Mild to moderate depression and even severe depression is common in patients suffering from Parkinson's disease. This finding, and the observation

that depression often follows the use of drugs which affect the basal ganglia, have led to interesting hypotheses about the anatomical and biochemical nature of depression.

Many other chronic neurological diseases (muscular dystrophies, cerebellar atrophies) are accompanied by depression. In most cases the main therapeutic task is one of rehabilitation or adjustment to the condition. In many cases of multiple sclerosis, there is no depression in spite of the crippling features of the disease. On the contrary, the patient seems apathetic or nonchalant to his condition. Depression occurs also in mental defectives who are not so defective as to disregard their condition.

Depressed episodes occur in senile dementia and also in psychoses with cerebral arteriosclerosis. These depressive episodes do not last long and are generally not prominent in the general clinical picture. The patient feels mistreated, cries over alleged thefts of which he is a victim, and is confused.

Depression With Endocrine And Other Chronic Diseases

The thyroid is the endocrine gland more frequently involved in depressions that accompany endocrine disorders. Hypothyroidism of any kind can lead to depression, especially when myxedema occurs. Hyperthyroidism (whether or not it reaches the clinical level of Graves' disease) is often complicated by depression. The patient's despondent mood

is often accompanied or alternated by a mood of irritability and capriciousness.

I also have seen cases of depression in hyperparathyroidism and severe diabetes. Depression also occurs after coronary disease, although not so frequently as states of anxiety.

Many diseases, especially those running a chronic course, can be accompanied by depression. In all these cases it is difficult to determine whether the physical illness is etiologically related to depression or whether depression is merely a precipitating factor, that is, merely the patient's psychological response to the unpleasantness caused by his physical illness.

Drug-Induced Depression

The following drugs induce a depressive mood in some patients: steroids, chlorpromazine (Thorazine®), the butyrophenones like haloperidol (Haldol®), and especially the rauwolfia derivatives, like reserpine (Serpasil®). The depression is generally not severe and disappears with discontinuance of the drug.

Depression Occurring In The Course Of Schizophrenia

Depression may occur in the course of schizophrenia. It must be

distinguished from schizo-affective psychosis, a condition in which a mixture of schizophrenic and manic-depressive symptoms takes place from the onset of the illness. Many psychiatrists, including myself, do not as a rule consider the occurrence of depression in the course of schizophrenia in negative terms but, on the contrary, as a sign of growth and good prognosis, especially if it occurs after the patient has started to respond favorably to treatment and the schizophrenic symptoms have disappeared or diminished in intensity.

Differential Diagnosis

The diagnosis is made in two steps. The first step consists of determining whether the patient is really suffering from a depression or from a syndrome simulating a depression. A person who seems depressed is not necessarily depressed in the clinical sense.

He may be experiencing normal sadness (see chapter 5). He may also be depressed and suffering from many psychiatric disorders, not necessarily just from a clinical form of depression. Depression, like anxiety, is found as a concomitant symptom in most psychiatric conditions. However, we are justified in calling a syndrome depression when the depressive mood constitutes the main characteristic, irrespective of whether this mood belongs to a primary or secondary form of depression.

Once we have ascertained that the patient is suffering from a real

depression (and not from another syndrome), we proceed to the second step: What kind of depression is he suffering from?

An elderly person has lost a considerable amount of weight, looks depressed, and complains that he may have cancer. He may be mistaken for a person suffering from severe depression when he indeed has some kind of malignancy. If he also has depression, it may be precipitated by his appraisal of his poor physical condition. An accurate physical examination will determine the situation. In psychiatric practice, however, the opposite occurrence is more common: an elderly patient has lost weight, has many hypochondriacal complaints including a fear of cancer, and is depressed. Negative physical findings, psychomotor retardation, insomnia, and a despondent mood generally will determine that he is suffering from depression.

Some post-encephalitic patients and some parkinsonian patients are mistaken for depressed, even when their condition is not complicated by depression. The confusion is caused by the fact that patients with extrapyramidal syndromes have symptoms and signs which are reminiscent of characteristics found in depressed patients. These symptoms include loss of accessory movements, mask-like expression on the face, slow gait, posture with stooped body and flexed head, and general psychomotor retardation. Neurological examination and the medical history of the patient will lead to

the correct diagnosis.

The complete or almost complete immobility of the patient and a minimal response to external stimuli may make difficult a differential diagnosis between depressive stupor and catatonic stupor. Generally a history of depression leads to the diagnosis of depression, but not always; many catatonics have experienced some episodes of mild or severe depression before the catatonic attack. Often other concomitant symptoms such as negativism, the assumption of bizarre postures, the swelling of legs from standing, the closing of eyes, and the almost absolute absence of emotion lead to the diagnosis of catatonic stupor.

The diagnosis of schizophrenia is also to be ruled out in some cases of manic-depressive psychosis that resemble the schizophrenic syndrome, especially if manic phases occur. During the manic attack the patient's behavior may appear bizarre and there may be disorganization of thought processes. However, both behavior and thought processes are much more altered in schizophrenia. If hallucinations occur in manic-depressive psychosis, they have the differential characteristics mentioned previously; if paranoid ideation is present, it is only minimal. The total picture, including personality type which is cyclothymic in the case of manic-depressive psychosis, will lead to an easy diagnosis except for those cases that are usually placed in the schizo-affective category.

Once we have determined that we are dealing with a depression, we must proceed to the second step and ascertain the specific type of depression. The presence of another illness (for example, epilepsy or myxedema) will lead easily to the diagnosis of secondary depression. In the majority of cases it is not difficult to determine whether a particular case is one of mild (neurotic) or severe (psychotic) depression.

According to the *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders* of the American Psychiatric Association (DSM-n) (Committee on Nomenclature, 1968), the differentiation between psychotic depression and depressive neurosis "depends on whether the reaction impairs reality testing or functional adequacy enough to be considered a psychosis."

The reality testing in this case concerns the mood of depression. Does the patient consider his depression justified; does he want to maintain it; does it drastically transform his appreciation of life? If the answers is yes, the diagnosis is bound to be one of severe depression (psychotic depression) or manic-depressive psychosis. A history of manic attacks, or at least of a cyclothymic personality, will lead to the diagnosis of manic-depressive psychosis. In mild depression we can recognize the following differential characteristics which rule out a severe depression. (1) The depression is not so intense as to affect the total personality of the patient.

The patient wants to get rid of the depression. (3) Suicidal ideas are not a predominant feature. (4) The patient responds, although to a moderate degree, to cheerful aspects of the environment and to attempts to comfort him. (5) The psychosomatic symptoms are different inasmuch as (a) The loss of appetite is not excessive. In some cases there is increased appetite, (b) As a rule there is no premorbid anxiety, (c) The insomnia is relatively mild. In some cases there is an increased need to sleep, (d) There is no dryness of the mouth, (e) The constipation is less marked, (f) The skin is not dry. (g) There is no hypomenorrhea or amenorrhea.

Notes

[1] There are many psychiatrists who would deny such a statement. They feel that if a manic-depressive seems later to become schizophrenic, it is because the right diagnosis (schizophrenia) was not made. A considerable number of psychiatrists would call such a patient schizo-affective. Most psychiatrists, however, limit the diagnosis of schizo-affective psychoses to patients who present a mixed symptomatology from the beginning of the illness.

REFERENCES

insanity and allied conditions. In Selected papers on psychoanalysis. New York: Basic Books, Pp. 137-156. . 1960 (orig. 1916). The first pregenital stage of the libido. In Selected papers on psychoanalysis. New York: Basic Books. Pp. 248-279. . 1960 (orig. 1924). A short study of the development of libido, viewed in the light of mental disorders. In Selected papers on psychoanalysis, New York: Basic Books, Pp. 418-501. Adler, K. A. 1961. Depression in the light of individual psychology. Journal of Individual Psychology 17:56-67. Akiskal, H. S., and McKinney, W. T. 1975. Overview of recent research in depression. Integration of ten conceptual models into a comprehensive clinical frame. Archives of General Psychiatry 32:285-305. Annell, A. L. 1969. Lithium in the treatment of children and adolescents. Acta Psychiatria Scandinavia Suppl. 207:19-30. Annell, A. L., ed. 1971, Depressive states in childhood and adolescence, New York: Halsted Press. Ansbacher, II. L., and Ansbacher, R. R. 1956. The Individual psychology of Alfred Adler. New York: Harper. Anthony, E. J. 1967. Psychoneurotic disorders. In A. M. Friedman and H. I. Kaplan, eds. Comprehensive textbook of psychiatry. Baltimore: Williams & Wellsing. _____. 1975a. Childhood depression. In E. J. Anthony and T. Benedek, eds. Depression and human existence. Boston: Little. Brown. _____. 1975b. Two contrasting types of adolescent depression and their treatment. In E. J. Anthony

and T. Benedek, eds. Depression and human existence. Boston: Little, Brown.

Abraham, K. 1960 (orig. 1911). Notes on the psychoanalytic treatment of manic-depressive

_____. 1977. Psychotherapy of severe depression. American Journal of Psychiatry 134:864-868. Aronoff, M., Evans, R., and Durell, J. 1971. Effect of lithium salts on electrolyte metabolism. Journal of Psychiatric Research 8:139-159. Baastrup, P. C., and Schou, M. 1967. Lithium as a prophylactic agent against recurrent depressions and manic-depressive psychosis. Archives of General Psychiatry 16:162-172. Baldessarini, R. J. 1975. The basis for the amine hypothesis in affective disorders. Archives of General Psychiatry 32:1087. Beck, A. 1967. Depression: clinical, experimental, and theoretical aspects. New York: Paul B. Hoeber. _____. 1970. The core problem in depression: the cognitive triad. In J. Masseman, ed. Science and Psychoanalysis 17. New York: Grune & Stratton. . 1976. Cognitive therapy and the emotional disorders. New York: International Universities Press. Becker, E. 1964. The revolution in psychiatry. New York: Free Press. ____. 1969. Kafka and the Oedipal complex. In *Angel in armor*. New York: Braziller. Beckett, S. 1959. Waiting for godot. London: Faber & Faber. Beliak, L. 1952. Manic-depressive psychosis and allied conditions. New York: Grune & Stratton. Bemporad, J. R. 1970. New views on the psychodynamics of the depressive character. In S. Arieti, ed. The world biennial of psychiatry and psychotherapy, vol. I. New York: Basic Books. ____. 1973. The role of the other in some forms of psychopathology. *Journal of the American* Academy of Psychoanalysis 1:367-379.

- _____. 1976. Psychotherapy of the depressive character. Journal of the American Academy of Psychoanalysis 4:347-372.
- Bender, L., and Schilder, P. 1937. Suicidal preoccupations and attempts in children. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry* 7:225-243.
- Beres, D. 1966. Superego and depression. In R. M. Lowenstein, L. M. Newman, M. Scherr, and A.].

 Solnit, eds. *Psychoanalysis—a general psychology.* New York: International Universities Press.
- Berg, J., Hullin, R., and Allsopp, M. 1974. Bipolar manic-depressive psychosis in early adolescence. British Journal of Psychiatry 125:416-418.
- Berman, H. H. 1933. Order of birth in manic-depressive reactions. Psychiatric Quarterly 12:43.
- Berner, P., Katschnig, H., and Poldinger, W. 1973. What does the term "masked depression" mean? In Kielholz, P., ed. *Masked depression*. Bern:Huber.
- Bertalanffy, L. von. 1956. General system theory. In Bertalanffy, L. von, and Rapaport, A., eds. *General system yearbook of the society for the advancement of general system theory.* Ann Arbor: University of Michigan Press.
- Bibring, E. 1953. The mechanism of depression. In P. Greenacre, ed. *Affective disorders*. New York: International Universities Press.
- Bieber, I., and Bieber, T. B. (In press.) Postpartum reactions in men and women. *Journal of the American Academy of Psychoanalysis* 6 (1978).
- Bierman, J. S., Silverstein, A. B., and Finesinger, J. E. 1958. A depression in a six-year-old boy with poliomyelitis. *Psychoanalytic Study of the Child* 13:430-450.
- Bigelow, N. 1959. The involutional psychosis. In S. Arieti, ed. *American handbook of psychiatry,* First ed., Vol. I. New York: Basic Books. Pp. 540-545.
- Binswanger, L. 1933. Uber ideenflucht. Orrele-Fusseler.

	legger's analytic of existence and its meaning for psychiatry. In <i>Being-in-the-rld</i> . New York: Basic Books.
	910. Die symptomatischen psychosen im gefolge von akuten infektionem und neren erkrankungen. Leipzig: Deutieke.
Bonime, W. 1960	. Depression as a practice. Comparative Psychiatry 1:194-198.
1962. The ci	linical use of dreams. New York: Basic Books.
	mics and psychotherapy of depression. In J. Masserman, ed. <i>Current psychiatric rapies</i> . New York: Grune & Stratton.
	psychodynamics of neurotic depression. <i>Journal of the American Academy of vchoanalysis</i> 4:301-326.
bas	Bonime, E. (In press.) Depressive personality and affect reflected in dreams: a sis for psychotherapy. In J. M. Natterson, ed. <i>The dream in clinical practice.</i> New rk: Aronson.
	The nature of the child's tie to his mother. <i>International Journal of Psychologysis</i> 39:350-373.
	of and mourning in infancy and early childhood. The Psychoanalytic Study of the $1d$ 15:9-52. New York: International Universities Press.
1960b. Sepa	aration anxiety. International Journal of Psycho-Analysis 41: 89-113.
	. Mental disorders associated with child-bearing. American Journal of Obstetrics d Gynecology 43:148-163; 335-349.
	1957. Kraepelin, his system and his influence. American Journal of Psychiatry 4:871.
-	essions and their treatment. In J. J. Lopez Ibor, ed. <i>Proceedings IV</i> , Part 1. Madrid: orld Conference on Psychiatry. p. 467.

- Brand, H. 1976. Kafka's creative crisis. *Journal of the American Academy of Psychoanalysis* 4:249-260.
- Brenner, B. 1975. Enjoyment as a preventative of depressive affect. *Journal of Comparative Psychology* 3:346-357.
- Brill, H. 1975. Postencephalitic states or conditions. In S. Arieti, ed. American handbook of psychiatry, Second ed., Vol. IV. Pp. 152-165.
- Brod, M. 1973. Franz Kafka: a biography. New York: Schocken Books. (Paperback.)
- Brown, F. 1968. Bereavement and lack of a parent in childhood. In E. Miller, ed. *Foundations of child psychiatry*. London: Pergamon.
- Buber, M. 1937. I and thou. Edinburgh: Clark.
- Bunney, W. E., Carpenter, W. T., and Engelmann, K. 1972. Brain seratonin and depressive illness. In T. A. Williams, M. M. Katz, and J. A. Shield, Jr., eds. *Recent advances in the psychobiology of the depressive illnesses.* Department of Health, Education, and Welfare: Publication No. (HSM) 70—9053.
- Burton, R. 1927. The anatomy of melancholy. New York: Tudor.
- Cade, J. F. 1949. Lithium salts in the treatment of psychotic excitement. Medical Journal of Australia 2:349-352.
- Cadoret, R. J., and Tanna, V. L. 1977. Genetics of affective disorders. In G. Usdin, ed. *Depression*. New York: Brunner/Mazel. Pp. 104-121.
- Cameron, N. 1944. The functional psychoses. In J. Mev. Hunt, ed. Personality and behavior disorders. Vol. 2. New York: Ronald Press.
- Camus, A. 1942. Le myth de sisyphe. Paris: Gallimard. (Quoted in Esslin, 1969).
- Carver, A. 1921. Notes on the analysis of a case of melancholia. *Journal of Neurology and Psychopathology* 1:320-324.

- Cerletti, V., and Bini, L. 1938. L'elettroshock. Archivi generali di neurologia, psichiatria e psicoanalisi 19:266.
- Charatan, F. B. 1975. Depression in old age. New York State Journal of Medicine 75:2505-2509.
- Chertok, L. 1969. Motherhood and personality, psychosomatic aspects of childbirth. London: Tavistock.
- Chodoff, P. 1970. The core problem in depression. In J. Masserman, ed. *Science and Psychoanalysis*, Vol. 17. New York: Grune & Stratton.
- ____. 1972. The depressive personality. *Archives of General Psychiatry* 27:666-677.
- Choron, J. 1972. Suicide. New York: Scribner's.
- Cohen, M. B., Blake, G., Cohen, R. A., Fromm-Reichmann, F., and Weigert, E. V. 1954. An intensive study of twelve cases of manic-depressive psychosis. *Psychiatry* 17:103-38.
- Committee on Nomenclature and Statistics of the American Psychiatric Association. 1968. *DSM—II: diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders,* Second ed. Washington: American Psychiatric Association.
- Cooperman, S. 1966. Kafka's "A Country Doctor"—microcosm of symbolism. In Manheim, L. and Manheim. E., eds. *Hidden Patterns*. New York: Macmillan.
- Coppen, A., Shaw, D. M., and Farrell, J. P. 1963. Potentiation of the antidepressing effect of a monoamine oxidose inhibition by tryptophan. *Lancet* 11:79-81.
- Covi, L., Lipman, R. S., Derogatis, L. R., et al. 1974. Drugs and group psychotherapy in neurotic depression. *American Journal of Psychiatry* 131:191-198.
- Coyne, J. C. 1976. Toward an interactional description of depression. *Psychiatry* 39: 28-40.
- Cytryn, L., and McKnew, D. H., Jr. 1972. Proposed classification of childhood depression. *American Journal of Psychiatry* 129:149.

- Davidson, G. M. 1936. Concerning schizophrenia and manic-depressive psychosis associated with pregnancy and childbirth. *American Journal of Psychiatry* 92:1331.
- Da Vinci, M. N. 1976. Women on women: the looking-glass novel. Denver Quarterly 11:1-13.
- Dennis, W., and Najarian, P. 1957. Infant development under environmental handicap. *Psychology Monographs* 71:1-13.
- Despert, L. 1952. Suicide and depression in children. Nervous Child 9:378-389.
- Dublin, L. I. 1963. Suicide: a sociological and statistical study. New York: Ronald Press.
- Durand-Fardel, M. 1855. Etude sur le suicide chez les enfants. Annals of Medicine 1:61—79.
- Durell, J., and Schildkraut, J. J. 1966. Biochemical studies of the schizophrenic and affective disorders. In S. Arieti, ed. American handbook of psychiatry, First ed., Vol. III. New York: Basic Books.
- Easson, W. II. 1977. Depression in adolescence. In S. C. Feinstein and P. Giovacchini, eds. Adolescent psychiatry, Vol. 5. New York: Aronson.
- Eaton, J. W., and Weil, R. J. 19550. Culture and mental disorders. Glencoe: Free Press.
- _____. 1955b. The Mental health of the Hutterites. In A. M. Rose, ed. *Mental health and mental disorders*. New York: Norton.
- Engel, G., and Reichsman, F. 1956. Spontaneous and experimentally induced depressions in an infant with gastric fistula. *Journal of the American Psychoanalytic Association* 4:428-456.
- English, II. B., and English, A. C. 1958. *A comprehensive dictionary of psychological and psychoanalytic terms.* New York, London, Toronto: Longmans, Green and Co.
- English, O. S. 1949. Observations of trends in manic-depressive psychosis. *Psychiatry* 12:125.
- Erikson, E. H. 1959. Identity and the life cycle. Psychological Issues, Vol. 1. New York: International

Universities Press.

. 1963. Childhood and society. New York: Norton.

Esslin, M. 1969. The theatre of the absurd, rev. ed. Garden City: Anchor Books, Doubleday.
Faris, R. E. L., and Dunham, II. W. 1939. Mental disorders in urban areas. Chicago: Univ. of Chicago Press.
Feinstein, S. G, and Wolpert, E. A. 1973. Juvenile manic-depressive illness. Journal of the American Academy of Child Psychiatry 12:123-136.
Fenichel, O. 1945. The psychoanalytic theory of neurosis. New York: Norton.
Fieve, R. R., Platman, S., and Plutehik, R. 1968. The use of lithium in affective disorders. American Journal of Psychiatry 125:487-491.
Forrest, T. 1969. The combined use of marital and individual therapy in depression. Contemporary Psychoanalysis 6:76-83.
Frazier, S. II. 1976. Changing patterns in the management of depression. Diseases of the Nervous System 37:25-29.
Freud, A. 1953. Some remarks on infant observation. The Psychoanalytic Study of the Child 8:9-19.

Freud, S. 1957 (orig. 1900). The interpretation of dreams. *Standard Edition* 4, 5. London: Hogarth Press.

. 1960. Discussion of Dr. J. Bowlby's paper. The Psychoanalytic Study of the Child 15:53-62.

____. 1970. The symptomatology of childhood. The Psychoanalytic Study of the Child 25:19-41.

- ___. 1957 (orig. 1917). Mourning and melancholia. *Standard Edition* 14:243-58. London: Hogarth Press.
- ____. 1957- (orig. 1921). Croup psychology and the analysis of the ego. Standard Edition 18.

London: Hogarth Press.

____. 1947. Man for himself. New York: Rinehart.

- 1987 (orig. 1923). The ego and the id. *Standard Edition* 19. London: Hogarth Press.
 1957 (orig. 1927). Fetishism. *Standard Edition* 21. London: Hogarth Press.
 1969. (orig. 1933). *New introductory lectures on psycho-analysis. Standard Edition* 22. London: Hogarth Press.
 1957 (orig. 1938). Splitting of the ego in the defensive process. *Standard Edition* 23. London: Hogarth Press.
 Fromm E. 1941. *Escape from freedom.* New York: Rinehart.
- Frommer, E. A. 1968. Depressive illness in childhood. In A. Coppen and A. Walk, eds. Recent developments in affective disorders. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, special publication no. 2. Pp. 117-136.
- Fromm-Reiehmann, F. 1949. Discussion of a paper by O. S. English. Psychiatry 12: 133.
- Gardner, J. 1977. Death by art. some men kill you with a six-gun, some men with a pen. *Critical Inquiry* 3(5).
- Geisler, L. S. 1973. Masked depression in patients suspected of suffering from internal diseases. In Kielholz, 1973.
- Gero, G. 1936. The construction of depression. *International Journal of Psycho- Analysis* 17:423-461.
- Gibbons, J. L. 1967. Cortisal secretion rate in depressive illness. Archives of General Psychiatry 10:572.
- Gibson, R. W. 1958. The family background and early life experience of the manic- depressive patient: a comparison with the schizophrenic patient. *Psychiatry* 21: 71-90.

- Goethe, W. 1827, Nacldese zu Aristoteles Poetik.
- Gold, II. R. 1951. Observations on cultural psychiatry during a world tour of mental hospitals.

 *American Journal of Psychiatry 108:462.
- Goodwin, F. K., and Bunney, W. E, 1973. A psychobiological approach to affective illness. *Psychiatric Annals* 3:19.
- Gove, W. R. 1972. The relationship between sex roles, marital status, and mental illness. *Social Focus* 51:36-66.
- ____. 1973. Sex, marital status, and mortality. *American Journal of Sociology* 79: 45-67.
- Green, A. W. 1946. The middle-class male child and neurosis. *American Sociological Review* 11:31-41.
- Greenspan, K., Aronoff, M., and Bogdansky, D. 1970. Effect of lithium carbonate on turnover and metabolism of norepinephrine. *Pharmacology* 3:129-136.
- Group for the Advancement of Psychiatry. 1975. *Pharmacotherapy and psychotherapy: paradoxes, problems and progress*, Vol. IX. New York.
- Cutheil, E. A. 1959. Reactive depressions. In Arieti, S., ed. American handbook of psychiatry, First ed. Vol. I. New York: Basic Books. Pp. 345-352.
- Guyton, A. C. 1972. Structure and function of the nervous system. Philadelphia: W. B. Saunders.
- Hall, C. S., and Lind, R. E. 1970. Dreams, life, and literature: a study of Franz Kafka. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press.
- Hauri, P. 1976. Dreams in patients remitted from reactive depression. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology* 85:1-10.
- Helgason, T. 1964. Epidemiology of mental disorders in Iceland. Acta Psychiatrica Scandanavia 40.

- Hempel, J. 1937. Die "vegetativ-dystone depression." Nervenarzt 10:22.
- Hendin, M. 1975. Growing up dead: student suicide. American Journal of Psychotherapy 29:327-338.
- Herzog, A., and Detre, T. 1976. Psychotic reactions associated with childbirth. Diseases of the Nervous System 37:229-235.
- Hinsie, L. E., and Campbell, R. J. 1960. Psychiatric dictionary. New York: Oxford University Press.

Horney, K. 1945. Our inner conflicts. New York: Norton.

- ____. 1950. Neurosis and human growth. New York: Norton.
- Jacobson, E. 1946. The effect of disappointment on ego and superego formation in normal and depressive development. Psychoanalytic Review 33:129-147.
- ____. 1954. The self and the object world. *Psychoanalytic Study of the Child* 9:75.
- ____. 1961. Adolescent moods and the remodeling of psychic structures in adolescence. *Psychoanalytic Study of the Child* 16:164-183.
- ____. 1971. Depression. New York: International Universities Press.
- ____. 1975- The psychoanalytic treatment of depressive patients. In E. J. Anthony and T. Benedek, eds. *Depression and human existence*. Boston: Little, Brown.
- Janouch, G. 1953. Conversations with Kafka. London: Derek Verschoyle.
- Jaspers, K. 1964. General psychopathology. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Jelliffe, S. E. 1931. Some historical phases of the manic-depressive synthesis. In *Manic-depressive psychosis*, Applied research in nervous and mental disease, Vol. XI. Baltimore: Williams & Wilkins.
- Joffe, W. G., and Sandler, J. 1965. Notes on pain, depression, and individualism. Psychoanalytic

Study of the Child 20:394-424.

Jones, E. 1955. Sigmund Freud: life and work, Vol II. New York: Basic Books.

Kafka, F. 1949, Digries, Vol. 1: 1910-1913, Vol. 2: 1914-1923, New York: Schocken,

____. 1971. The complete stories. New York: Schocken.

____. 1973. (orig. 1919) *Letter to his father.* New York: Schocken.

Kasanin, J., and Kaufman, M. R. 1929. A study of the functional psychoses in childhood. *American Journal of Psychiatry* 9:307-384.

Katz, S. E. 1934. The family constellation as a predisposing factor in psychosis. Psychiatric Quarterly 8:121.

Kennedy, F. 1944. Neuroses related to manic-depressive constitutions. Medical Clinics of North America 28:452.

Kielholz, P., ed. 1972. Depressive illness. Bern: Huber.

____. ed. 1973. Masked depression. Bern: Huber.

Kierkegaard, S. 1954. (orig. 1843 and 1849). *Fear and trembling* and *The sickness unto death.* New York: Doubleday (Anchor).

Klaus, M. II., and Kennell, J. H. 1976. Maternal-infant bonding. St. Louis: Mosby.

Klein, D. F. 1974. Endogenomorphic depression. Archives of General Psychiatry 31: 447-454.

Klein, M. 1948 (orig. 1940). Mourning and its relation to manic-depressive states. In M. Klein, ed. Contributions to psychoanalysis, 1.921-1945. London: Hogarth Press.

Klerman, G. L., Dimaseio, A., Weissman, M. et al. 1974. Treatment of depression by drugs and psychotherapy. *American Journal of Psychiatry* 131:186-191.

Koerner, O. 1929. Die aerztliche Kenntnisse in Ilias und Odysse. (Quoted in Jelliffe, 1931)

Kohlberg, L. 1969. Stage and sequence: the cognitive-developmental approach to socialization. In D. A. Goslin, ed. *Handbook of socialization theory and research*. Chicago: Rand McNally.

Kolb, L. C. 1956. Psychotherapeutic evolution and its implications. Psychiatric Quarterly 30:1-19.

____. 1959. Personal communication

Kovacs, M. 1976. Presentation in working conference to critically examine DMS-111 in midstream. St. Louis: June 10-12.

Kraepelin, E. 1921. Manic-depressive insanity and paranoia. Edinburgh: Livingstone.

Kuhn, T. S. 1962. The structure of scientific revolutions, 2d ed. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.

Kurland, H. D. 1964. Steroid excretion in depressive disorders. Archives of General Psychiatry 10:554.

Kurland, M. L. 1976. Neurotic depression: an empirical guide to two specific drug treatments. Diseases of the Nervous System 37:424-431.

Landis, C., and Page, J. D. 1938. Society and mental disease. New York: Rinehart.

Laplanehe, J., and Pontalis, J. B. 1973. The language of psychoanalysis. New York: Norton.

Leeper, R. W. 1948. A motivational theory of emotion to replace "emotion as disorganized response." *Psychiatric Review* 55:5-21.

Lemke, R. 1949. Uber die vegetativ Depression. Psychiat. Neurol, Und Psychol. 1:161.

Lesse, S., ed. 1974a, Masked depression, New York: Aronson,

____. 1974b. Psychotherapy in combination with antidepressant drugs in patients with severe

masked depression. American Journal of Psychotherapy 31:185-203.

- Levine, S. 1965. Some suggestions for treating the depressed patient. *Psychoanalytic Quarterly* 34-37-45.
- Levy, D. 1937. Primary affect hunger. American Journal of Psychiatry 94:643-652.
- Lewinsohn, P. M. 1969. Depression: a clinical research approach. (Unpublished manuscript, cited in Coyne, 1976.)
- Lewis, A. 1934. Melancholia: a historical review. Journal of Mental Science 80:1.
- Lindemann, E. 1944. The symptomatology and management of acute grief. *American Journal of Psychiatry* 101:141.
- Loevinger, J. 1976. Ego development. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Lopes Ibor, J. J. 1966. Las neurosis como enfermedados del animo. Madrid: Gedos.
- _____. Masked depression and depressive equivalents. (Cited in Kielholz, P. *Masked Depression*Bern: Huber 1972.)
- Lorand, S. 1937. Dynamics and therapy of depressive states. Psychoanalytic Review 24:337-349-
- Lorenz, M. 1953. Language behavior in manic patients. A qualitative study. Archives of Neurology and Psychiatry 69:14.
- Lorenz, M., and Cobb, S. 1952. Language behavior in manic patients. *Archives of Neurology and Psychiatry* 67:763.
- Luria, A. R. 1966. Higher cortical functions in man. New York: Basic Books.
- ____. 1973. The working brain. An introduction to neuropsychology. New York: Basic Books.
- McCabe, M. S. 1975. Demographic differences in functional psychosis. *British Journal of Psychiatry* 127:320-323.

- McConville, B. J., Boag, L. C., and Purohit, A. P. 1973. Three types of childhood depression. *Canadian Psychiatric Association Journal* 18:133-138.
- MacLean, P. D. 1959. The limbic system with respect to two basic life principles. In M. A. B. Brazier, ed. *The central nervous system and behavior*. New York: Macy.
- Magny, C. E. 1946. The objective depiction of absurdity. In A. Flores, ed. *The Kafka problem*. New York: New Directions.
- Mahler, M. 1961. Sadness and grief in childhood. Psychoanalytical study of the child 16:332-351.
- ____. 1966. Notes on the development of basic moods: the depressive affect. In
- R. M. Lowenstein, L. M. Newman, M. Schur, and A. J. Solnit, eds. *Psychoanalysis— a general psychology*. New York: International Universities Press. Pp. 152-160.
- ____. 1968. On human symbiosis and the vicissitudes of individuation. New York: International Universities Press.
- Malmquist, C. 1971. Depression in childhood and adolescence. *New England Journal of Medicine* 284:887-893; 955-961.
- Malzberg, B. 1937. Is birth order related to incidence of mental disease? *American Journal of Physical Anthropology* 24:91.
- ____. 1940. Social and biological aspects of mental disease. Utica, New York: State Hospital Press.
- Mandell, A. J., and Segal, D. S. 1975. Neurochemical aspects of adaptive regulation in depression: failure and treatment. In E. J. Anthony and T. Benedek, eds. *Depression and human existence*. Boston: Little, Brown.
- Maranon, C. 1954. Climacteric: the critical age in the male. In A. M. Krich, ed. *Men: the variety and meaning of their sexual experiences*. New York: Dell.
- Mattson, A., Sesse, L. R., and Hawkins, J. W. 1969. Suicidal behavior as a child psychiatric emergency. *Archives of General Psychiatry* 20:100–109.

- Mendels, J. 1974. Biological aspects of affective illness. In S. Arieti, ed. American handbook of psychiatry, Second ed., Vol. III. New York: Basic Books. Pp. 491-523.
- Mendels, J., Stern, S., and Frazer, A. 1976. Biological concepts of depression. In D. M. Gallant and G. M. Simpson, eds. *Depression*. New York: Spectrum Publications. I5P. 19-76.
- Mendelson, M. 1974. Psychoanalytic concepts of depression. New York: Spectrum Publications.
- Messina, F., Agallianos, D., and Clower, C. 1970. Dopamine excretion in affective states and following LijCo3 therapy. *Nature* 225:868-869.
- Meyer, A. 1908a. The role of the mental factors in psychiatry. American Journal of Insanity 65:39.
- ____. 1908b. The problems of mental reaction—types, mental causes and diseases. *Psychological Bulletin* 5:265.
- Miller, J. B. 1976. Toward a new psychology of women. Boston: Beacon Press.
- Miller, W. R., and Seligman, M. E. P. 1976. Learned helplessness, depression, and the perception of reinforcement. *Behavioral Research and Therapy* 14:7-17.
- Minkowski, E. 1958. Findings in a case of schizophrenic depression. In R. May, ed. *Existence*. New York: Basic Books.
- Mitscherlich, A., and Mitscherlich, M. 1975. *The inability to mourn.* Translated by B. R. Placzek. New York: Grove Press.
- Moulton, R. 1973. Sexual conflicts of contemporary women. In E. G. Wittenberg, ed. *Interpersonal explorations in psychoanalysis*. New York: Basic Books.
- Munn, N. L. 1946. *Psychology: the fundamentals of human adjustment.* New York: Houghton-Mifflin.
- Murphy, II. B. M., Wittkower, E. D., and Chance, N. A. 1967. Cross-cultural inquiry into the symptomatology of depression: a preliminary report. *International Journal of Psychiatry* 3:6-15.

- Nagy, M. II. 1959. The child's view of death. In H. Feifel, ed. *The meaning of death.* New York: McGraw-Hill.
- Neal, J. B., ed. 1942. Encephalitis: a clinical study. New York: Grune & Stratton.
- Neider, C. 1948. The frozen sea: a study of Franz Kafka. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Odegard, O. 1963. The psychiatric disease entitites in the light of genetic investigation. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandanavia* (Suppl.) 169:94-104.
- Olds, J., and Milner, P. 1954. Positive reinforcement produced by electrical stimulation of septal area and other regions of rat brain. *Journal of Comparative Physiology and Psychology* 47:419-427.
- Oswald, I., Brezinova, J., and Dunleavy, D. L. F. 1972. On the slowness of action of tricyclic antidepressant drugs. *British Journal of Psychiatry* 120:673.
- Palmer, II. D., and Sherman, S. H. 1938. The involutional melancholic process. Archives of Neurology and Psychiatry 40:762-788.
- Papez, J. W. 1937. A proposed mechanism of emotion. *Archives of Neurology and Psychiatry* 38:725-743.
- Parkes, C. M. 1964. The effects of bereavement on physical and mental health: a study of the case records of widows. *British Medical Journal* 2:276.
- ____. 1965. Bereavement and mental illness. British Journal of Medical Psychology 38:1-25.
- ___. 1972. Bereavement: studies of grief in adult life. New York: International Universities Press.
- ____. 1973. Separation anxiety: an aspect of the search for the lost object. In R. J. Weiss, ed.

 *Loneliness. The experience of emotional and social isolation. Cambridge: MIT Press.
- Parker, S. 1962. Eskimo psychopathology in the context of eskimo personality and culture. *American Anthropologist* 64:76-96.

- Perris, C. 1966. A study of bipolar (manic-depressive) and unipolar recurrent depressive psychosis. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandanavia* (Suppl.) 194:42.
- ____. 1976. Frequency and hereditary aspects of depression. In D. M. Gallant and G. M. Simpson, eds. *Depression*. New York: Spectrum Publications.
- Piaget, J. 1932. The moral judgment of the child. New York: Free Press.
- ____. 1951. *Play, dreams, and imitation in childhood.* New York: Norton.
- ____. 1952. The origins of intelligence in children. New York: International Universities Press.
- Politzer, II. 1966. Franz Kafka: parable and paradox, Second ed. Ithaca: Cornell University Press.
- Pollock, II. M., Malzberg, B., and Fuller, R. G. 1939. *Hereditary and environmental factors in the causation of manic-depressive psychosis and dementia praecox.* Utica, New York: State Hospital Press.
- Poznanski, E., and Zrull, J. P. 1970. Childhood depression: clinical characteristics of overtly depressed children. *Archives of General Psychiatry* 23:8-15.
- Poznanski, E. O., Krahenbuhl, V., and Zrull, P. 1976. Childhood depression: a longitudinal perspective. *Journal of the American Academy of Child Psychiatry* 15:491-501.
- Prange, A. J., Jr., Wilson, I. C., and Rabon, A. M. 1969. Enhancement of imipramine antidepressant activity by thyroid hormone. *American Journal of Psychiatry* 126:457.
- Prange, A. J., Jr., and Wilson, I. C. 1972. Thyrotropin Releasing Hormone (TRH) for the immediate relief of depression: a preliminary report. *Psychopharmacology* 26 (Suppl.).
- Prange, A. J. Jr. 1973. The use of drugs in depression: its theoretical and practical basis. *Psychiatric Annals* 3:56.
- Protheroe, C. 1969. Puerperal psychoses: a long-term study 1927-1961. *British Journal of Psychiatry* 115:9-30.

- Rado, S. 1956. (orig. 1927). The problem of melancholia. In Rado S. *Collected papers*, Vol. I. New York: Grune & Stratton.
- ____. 1951. Psychodynamics of depression from the etiologic point of view. *Psychosomatic Medicine* 13:51-55.
- Raskin, A. 1974. A guide for drug use in depressive disorders. *American Journal of Psychiatry* 131:181-185.
- Redmond, D. E., Mass, J. W., and King, A. 1971. Social behavior of monkeys selectively depleted of monoamines. Science 174:428–431.
- Rennie, T. A. L. 1942. Prognosis in manic-depressive psychosis. *American Journal of Psychiatry* 98:801.
- Rie, M. E. 1966. Depression in childhood: a survey of some pertinent contributions. *Journal of the American Academy of Child Psychiatry* 5:653-685.
- Riesman, D., Glazer, N., and Denney, R. 1950. The lonely crowd. New Haven: Yale University Press.
- Roehlin, G. 1959. The loss complex. Journal of the American Psychoanalytic Association 7:299-316.
- Rosenthal, S. II. 1968. The involutional depressive syndrome. *American Journal of Psychiatry* (Suppl.) 124:21-35.
- ____. 1974. Involutional depression. In S. Arieti, ed. *American handbook of psychiatry*, Second ed. Vol. III. New York: Basic Books. Pp. 694-709.
- Russell, B. 1967. The autobiography of Bertrand Russell: the early years. New York: Bantam.
- Sachar, E., Heilman, L., and Gallagher, T. F. 1972. Cortisal production in depression. In T. A. Williams, M. M. Katz, and J. A. Shield, Jr., eds. Recent advances in the psychobiology of the depressive illnesses. Department of Health, Education, and Welfare: Publication No. (HSM) 70-9053.
- Sapirstein, S. L., and Kaufman, M. R. 1966. The higher they climb, the lower they fall. Journal of the

- Canadian Psychiatric Association 11:229-304.
- Salzman, L., and Masserman, J. H. 1962. *Modern concepts of psychoanalysis*. New York: Philosophical Library.
- Sandler, J., and Joffe, W. G. 1965. Notes on childhood depression. *International Journal of Psychoanalysis* 46:88-96.
- Schilder, P., and Weschler. D. 1934. The attitudes of children toward death. *Journal of Genetic Psychology* 45:406-451.
- Schildkraut, J. J. 1965. The catecholamine hypothesis of affective disorders: a review of supporting evidence. *American Journal of Psychiatry* 122:509-522.
- ____. 1975. Depression and biogenic amines. In D. Hamburg and II. K. H. Brodie, eds. *American handbook of psychiatry*, Vol. 6. New York: Basic Books.
- Schlegel, F. 1818. Lectures on the history of literature, ancient and modern. Edinburgh.
- Schoenberg, B., Gerber, I., Wiener, A., Kutscher, A. H., Peretz, D., and Carrac, eds. 1975.

 Bereavement: its psychological aspects. New York: Columbia University Press.
- Schopenhauer, A. 1961. *The world as will and idea.* Translated by R. B. Haldane and J. Keint. New York: AMS Press.
- Segal, Hannah. 1964. Introduction to the work of Melanie Klein. London: Heinemann.
- Seiden, R. H. 1969. Suicide among youth. Bulletin of Suicidology. (Suppl.).
- Seligman, M. E. P. 1975. Helplessness. San Francisco: W. H. Freeman.
- Seligman, M., and Maier, S. 1967. Failure to escape traumatic shock. *Journal of Experimental Psychology* 74:1-9.
- Shaffer, D. 1974. Suicide in childhood and early adolescence. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry* 15:275-291.

- Shambaugh, B. 1961. A study of loss reactions in a seven-year-old. *Psychoanalytic Study of the Child* 16:510-522.
- Shimoda, M. 1961. Uber den fraaruorbideu charakter des manish-depressiven irreseius. *Psychiatria et Neurologia Japonica* 45:101.
- Silverberg, W. 1952. Childhood experience and personal destiny. New York: Springer.
- Slipp, S. 1976. An intrapsychic-interpersonal theory of depression. *Journal of the American Academy of Psychoanalysis* 4:389-410.
- Smith, A., Troganza, E., and Harrison, G. 1969. Studies on the effectiveness of antidepressant drugs. *Psychopharmacology Bulletin* (Special issue).
- Smythies, J. 1973. Psychiatry and neurosciences. Psychological Medicine 3:267-269.
- Sperling, M. 1959. Equivalents of depression in children. Journal of Hillside Hospital 8:138-148.
- Spiegel, R. 1959. Specific problems of communication in psychiatric conditions. In S. Arieti, ed. American handbook of psychiatry, First ed. Vol. I. New York: Basic Books. Pp. 909-949.
- ____. 1960. Communication in the psychoanalysis of depression. In J. Massemian, ed. *Psychoanalysis and human values.* New York: Grune & Stratton.
- ____. 1965. Communication with depressive patients. *Contemporary Psychoanalysis* 2:30-35.
- Spitz, R. 1946. Anaclitic depression. Psychoanalytic Study of the Child 5:113-117.
- Strecker, E. A., and Ebaugh, F. 1926. Psychoses occurring during the puerperium. *Archives of Neurology and Psychiatry* 15:239.
- Strongin, E. I., and Hinsie, L. E. 1938. Parotid gland secretions in manic-depressive patients. *American Journal of Psychiatry* 96:14-59.
- Sullivan, H. S. 1940. Conceptions of modern psychiatry. New York: Norton.

- ____. 1953. *The interpersonal theory of psychiatry.* New York: Norton.
- Szalita, A. B. 1966. Psychodynamics of disorders of the involutional age. In S. Arieti, ed. *American handbook of psychiatry*, First ed., Vol. III. New York: Basic Books. Pp. 66-87.
- ____. 1974. Grief and bereavement. In S. Arieti, ed. *American handbook of psychiatry,* Second ed., Vol. I. Pp. 673-684.
- Taulbee, E. S., and Wright, II. W. 1971. A psychosocial-behavioral model for therapeutic intervention. In C. D. Spielberger, ed. *Current topics in clinical and community* psychology, Vol. 3. New York: Academic Press.
- Tellenbach, II. 1974. Melancholic problemgeschichte-endogenitat-typologie-putho- genese-klinik. Berlin: Springer-Verlag.
- Thomas, A., Chess, S., and Birch, H. G. 1968. *Temperament and behavior disorders in children*. New York: New York University Press.
- Thompson, C. M. 1930. Analytic observations during the course of a manic-depressive psychosis. *Psychoanalytic Review* 17:240.
- Thompson, R. j., and Schindler, F. H. 1976. Embryonic mania. *Child Psychiatry and Human Development* 7:149-154.
- Titley, W. B. 1936. Prepsychotic personality of involutional melancholia. *Archives of Neurology and Psychiatry* 36:19-33.
- Toolan, J. M. 1962. Depression in children and adolescents. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry* 32:404-15.
- Tupin, J. P. 1972. Effect of lithium and sodium and body weight in manic-depressives and normals. In T. A. Williams, M. M. Katz, and J. A. Shield, Jr., eds. Recent advances in the psychobiology of the depressive illnesses. Department of Health, Education, and Welfare: Publication No. (HSM) 70-9053.
- Veith, Ilza. 1970. Elizabethans on melancholia. Journal of the American Medical Association

212:127.

- Wainwright, W. H. 1966. Fatherhood as a precipitant of mental illness. *American Journal of Psychiatry* 123:40-44.
- Warneke, L. 1975. A case of manic-depressive illness in childhood. Canadian Psychiatric Association Journal 20:195-200.
- Weinberg, W. A., Rutman, J., and Sullivan, L. 1973. Depression in children referred to an educational diagnostic center: diagnosis and treatment. *Journal of Pediatrics* 83:1065-1072.
- Weiner, I. B. 1970. Psychological disturbance in adolescence. New York: Wiley.
- Weiss, J. M. A. 1957. The gamble with death in attempted suicide. *Psychiatry* 20:17.
- ____. 1974. Suicide. In S. Arieti, ed. *American handbook of psychiatry*, Second ed., Vol. III. Pp. 763-765.
- Weissman, M. M., and Klerman, L. 1977. Sex differences and the epidemiology of depression.

 *Archives of General Psychiatry 34:98-111.
- Weissman, M. M., Klerman, G. L., Payhel, E. S., et al. 1974. Treatment effects on the social adjustment of depressed patients. *Archives of General Psychiatry* 30:771-778.
- Weissman, M. M., Prusoff, B. A., and Klerman, G. 1975. Drugs and psychotherapy in depression revisited. *Psychopharmacology Bulletin* 11:39-41.
- Werner, H. 1948. *The comparative psychology of mental development.* New York: International Universities Press.
- Whittier, J. R. 1975. Mental disorders with Huntington's chorea. Clinical aspects. In S. Arieti, ed. American handbook of psychiatry, Second ed., Vol. IV. New York: Basic Books. Pp. 412-417.
- Wilson, E. 1962. A dissenting opinion on Kafka. In D. Gray, ed. Kafka. Englewood Cliffs: Prentice-

Hall.

- Winnicott, D. W. 1953. Transitional objects and transitional phenomena. *International Journal of Psycho-Analysis* 34.
- Winokur, G. 1973. Depression in the menopause. American Journal of Psychiatry 130: 92-93.
- Winokur, G., Cadoret, R., Dorzab, J., and Baker, M. 1971. Depressive disease. A genetic study. Archives of General Psychiatry 25:135-144.
- Wolfgang, M. E. 1959. Suicide by means of victim-precipitated homicide: *Journal of Clinical and Experimental Psychology* 20:335-349.
- Wolman, B. B. 1973. Dictionary of behavioral science. New York: Van Nostrand.
- Woodworth, B. S. 1940. Psychology. New York: Holt.
- Zetzel, E. R. 1965. Depression and its incapacity to bear it. In M. Schur, ed. *Drives, affects, behavior.*Vol. 2. New York: International Universities Press.
- Zilboorg, G. 1928. Malignant psychoses related to childbirth. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology* 15:145-158.
- ____. 1929. The dynamics of schizophrenic reactions related to pregnancy and childbirth. American Journal of Psychiatry 8:733-767.
- ____. 1931. Depressive reactions related to parenthood. *American Journal of Psychiatry* 87:927-962.
- ____. 1941. A history of medical psychology. New York: Norton.
- ____. 1944. Manic-depressive psychoses. In S. Lorand, cd. *Psychoanalysis today.* New York: International Universities Press.